
 

 

 

 Switchboard: 01293 438000 
Main fax: 01293 511803 
Minicom: 01293 405202 DX: 
57139 Crawley 1 
www.crawley.gov.uk 
 

 
Town Hall 

The Boulevard 
Crawley 

West Sussex 
RH10 1UZ 

 

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Cabinet 
 
 
Agenda for the Cabinet which will be held in Committee Rooms A & B 
- Town Hall, on Wednesday, 5 October 2022 at 7.00 pm 
 
 
Nightline Telephone No. 07881 500 227 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
Membership: 
Councillors M G Jones (Chair) Leader of the Council 
 S Buck Cabinet Member for Housing 
 G S Jhans Cabinet Member for Environmental Services 

and Sustainability 
 S Malik Cabinet Member for Resources 
 C J Mullins Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet 

Member for Wellbeing 
 S Mullins Cabinet Member for Public Protection and 

Community Engagement 
 A Nawaz Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 

Development 
 
 
 
 
 
Please contact Democratic Services if you have any queries regarding this agenda.  
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Published 23 September 2022 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

The order of business may change at the Chair’s discretion 
 

Part A Business (Open to the Public) 
 
  Pages 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
2.   Disclosures of Interest   

 In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, councillors are 
reminded that it is a requirement to declare interests where 
appropriate. 
  

 

 
3.   Minutes  5 - 10 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet held on 7 
September 2022. 

 

 
4.   Public Question Time   

 To answer any questions asked by the public which are relevant to 
the functions of the Cabinet.  
 
Public Question Time will be concluded by the Chair when all 
questions have been answered or on the expiry of a period of 15 
minutes, whichever is the earlier. 

 

 
5.   Matters referred to the Cabinet and Report from the Chair 

of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission  
 

 To consider any matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by a 
scrutiny committee or by the Council) and those for reconsideration 
in accordance with the provisions contained in the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules, the Budget Procedure Rules and the Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
  

 

 
6.   2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1  11 - 30 

 The Leader’s Portfolio 
  
To consider report FIN/586 of the Head of Corporate Finance, which 
was referred to the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission held on 3 October 2022.  

 

 
7.   Budget Strategy 2023/24 - 2027/28  31 - 58 

 The Leader’s Portfolio 
  
To consider report FIN/583 of the Head of Corporate Finance, which 
was referred to the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission held on 3 October 2022. 

 

 

Page 2



 
 
 
   Pages 

8.   Proposed Increase of Weekly Rent to Council Owned 
Garages  

59 - 68 

 The Leader’s Portfolio 
  
To consider report CEX/59 of the Chief Executive, which was 
referred to the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
held on 3 October 2022. 

 

 
9.   Proposed Manor Royal Business Improvement District 

(BID) Renewal ("BID 3")  
69 - 78 

 Planning and Economic Development Portfolio 
  
To consider report PES/421 of the Head of Economy and Planning. 

 

 
10.   Supplemental Agenda   

 Any urgent item(s) complying with Section 100(B) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 

 
 
This information is available in different formats and languages.  If you or 
someone you know would like help with understanding this document please 
contact the Democratic Services team on 01293 438549 or email: 
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet (17) 
7 September 2022 

 

 
 

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Minutes of Cabinet 
 

Wednesday, 7 September 2022 at 7.00 pm  
 

Councillors Present: 
 

 

M G Jones (Chair) Leader of the Council 
S Malik Cabinet Member for Resources 
C J Mullins Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Wellbeing 
S Mullins Cabinet Member for Public Protection and Community Engagement 
A Nawaz Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development 

 
Also in Attendance: 
 
Councillor A Belben, T G Belben, R D Burrett, D Crow and R A Lanzer 
 
Officers Present: 
 

 

Natalie Brahma-Pearl Chief Executive 
Siraj Choudhury Head of Governance, People & Performance 
Richard Gammie Commercial Asset Manager 
Karen Hayes Head of Corporate Finance 
Chris Pedlow Democracy & Data Manager 
Jess Tamplin Democratic Services Officer 

 
Apologies for Absence: 
 
Councillor S Buck and G S Jhans 
 

 
1. Disclosures of Interest  

 
The following disclosures of interests were made: 
  
Councillor Item and Minute Type and Nature of 

Disclosure 
  

Councillor 
Nawaz 
  
  
  
  

Final Report of the Council-
owned Neighbourhood 
Parades Scrutiny Panel 
(Minute 5) 
  
  

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
– a tenant of a retail unit 
owned by Crawley Borough 
Council. 
  
Councillor Nawaz left the room 
and took no part in the 
discussion or vote on this item. 
  

Page 5

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet (18) 
7 September 2022 

 

 
 

Councillor S 
Mullins 
  
  

Final Report of the Council-
owned Neighbourhood 
Parades Scrutiny Panel 
(Minute 5) 

Personal Interest – a previous 
member of the Scrutiny Panel 
(prior to becoming a Cabinet 
Member). 
  
  

 
2. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 July 2022 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Leader.  
  
 

3. Public Question Time  
 
There were no questions from the public. 
  
 

4. Matters referred to the Cabinet and Report from the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission  
 
It was confirmed that no matters had been referred to the Cabinet for further 
consideration. 
  
 

5. Final Report of the Council-owned Neighbourhood Parades Scrutiny 
Panel  
 
Councillor Nawaz left the room and took no part in the discussion or vote on this item. 
  
Councillor Lanzer as Chair of the Council-owned Neighbourhood Parades Scrutiny 
Panel presented report OSC/303, the Panel’s final report to the Cabinet. The Cabinet 
was reminded that the main aims of the Scrutiny Panel were to examine the various 
roles of Crawley Borough Council’s neighbourhood shopping parades, explore how 
effectively these were being discharged, and to consider any improvements that could 
be made.  
  
The Cabinet was informed that the Scrutiny Panel’s large number of 
recommendations were consciously framed with a whole Council approach, noting 
that contributions can be made by various departments beyond that responsible for 
the Property Strategy, and by partner organisations. 
  
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report as detailed in report OSC/304 to the Cabinet following consideration of 
the matter at its meeting on 5 September 2022, which included:  
       Endorsement of the report and recommendations and thanks to all Panel 

members and officers involved in the process. 
       Disappointment at the response rate to the parade tenant section of the 

consultation but recognition that further in-person consultation had been 
successful.  The need for tenants to seek legal advice when signing a lease was 
discussed, and concerns were raised about the level of arrears owed. 

       Some concern about the costs involved in some of the recommendations. 
  
Councillor Crow was invited to speak on the item and in doing so thanked the Panel 
for its considerations and recognised the importance of the work that was done.  

Page 6

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24279/Final%20Report%20of%20the%20Council-owned%20Neighbourhood%20Parades%20Scrutiny%20Panel.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/b11955/OSC%20Comments%2007th-Sep-2022%2019.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Cabinet (19) 
7 September 2022 

 

 
 

Concerns were raised regarding the appropriateness and viability of 
recommendations (a), (b), and (m). 

  
Councillors C Mullins and S Mullins spoke as part of the discussion on the report.  It 
was considered important to ensure the neighbourhood parades continued to be 
community hubs with their own identities – the work of the Panel reflected this, but 
there were hesitancies about the financial implications of some of the 
recommendations especially as it would be difficult to fairly distribute funds or 
resources across all parades.  It was highlighted that there were problems of crime 
and anti-social behaviour in some areas and this was a matter for Sussex Police; it 
would not be appropriate or fair to request the Council’s community wardens to 
undertake further work on this issue.  Also discussed was the extent to which the 
Council should have influence on the balance of trades  at the parades. 
  
The Leader of the Council, having heard the views expressed by the Cabinet and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission, concluded that it was possible to adopt some of 
the Panel’s recommendations.  Others however were not financially viable at present 
in light of the current financial restraints on the Council, or not practicable (for 
example, because it was difficult to exercise control over the balance of trades/uses).  
It was also highlighted that the Council needed to maintain a professional tenant-
landlord relationship with shop tenants and some of the recommendations were seen 
to confuse or compromise the balance of responsibilities between the two.  The 
Leader presented each of the Panel’s recommendations in turn and summarised 
which were to be approved, amended, or rejected, and gave the reasons for doing 
so.   
  
RESOLVED 
  
That the Cabinet: 
  

i)        Engages the Council's Business and Economic Development Team to 
signpost all neighbourhood parade tenants to business and training support, 
advice, and resources (e.g., the West Sussex Retail Hub) at the beginning of 
and, when appropriate, during their tenancy.  

  
ii)       Incorporates into any future review of CCTV coverage in the borough an 

assessment of any blind spots at any neighbourhood parades, including 
through representations to the Safer Crawley Partnership. 
  

iii)      Prepares and sends an annual questionnaire to parade shop tenants, with the 
process reviewed after the second year, based on the experience of the extent 
of demands on officer time this creates. 

  
iv)      Subjects the lease agreement to an external test of the language used (e.g. 

Crystal Mark accreditation) and produces a summary version in plain 
language, accompanying while not substituting for the legal content of the 
main lease, for which tenants must continue to ensure they obtain their own 
independent legal advice before signing. 

  
v)       Requests the Cabinet Member for Public Protection and Community writes to 

the local district commander at Sussex Police requesting that they enhance 
the arrangements of a zero-tolerance policy on alcohol consumption at the 
parades and increase patrols from Sussex Police/PCSOs. 

  
vi)      Requests that Sussex Police provides tenants with updates on the 

mechanisms for crime and anti-social behaviour reporting. 

Page 7

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet (20) 
7 September 2022 

 

 
 

  
vii)    Considers a capital resource allocation to assess a further round of 

neighbourhood parade improvements, to maintain the benefits delivered by 
the previous programme. 

  
viii)   Requests that officers circulate to all councillors details of the Asset Team's 

small budget allocated for improvement works on the neighbourhood parades. 
  

ix)      Raises awareness among parade businesses on options for putting together 
their own Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) if they consider that matters 
such as an enhanced inspection and cleaning regime and dedicated warden 
patrol patterns would be desirable as an increased priority for the 
neighbourhood parades. 

  
x)       Gives instructions to the Asset Team that confirm that they must pro-actively 

prevent the build-up of unacceptably high tenant debt in the interests of the 
tenants and Council taxpayers, to include the realistic consideration of an early 
termination of tenancy in preference to allowing an increasing debt with no 
prospect of repayment. 

  
xi)      Continues to maintain a web presence for all neighbourhood parade shops 

that wish to be represented, with this forming part of the offer of a new lease 
assignment. 

  
Reasons for the Recommendations  
  
The Panel’s recommendations reflected the objectives set out in the scoping 
framework.  The main aims of the Panel were to examine the various roles of Crawley 
Borough Council’s neighbourhood shopping parades, explore how effectively these 
were being discharged, and to consider any improvements that could be made. 
  
The recommendations were consciously framed with a whole Council approach, 
noting that contributions can be made by various departments beyond that 
responsible for the Property Strategy, and by partner organisations. 
  
The Cabinet chose to adopt only those recommendations which it considered 
practical and viable considering the current financial restraints on the Council. The 
parades are run as a commercial concern and the need to do this helps in part to 
support paying for the Council’s wider work and provision of services. 
  
 

6. Crawley Borough Council's Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Statement 
2022-2026  
 
The Cabinet Member for Resources presented report LDS/181 of the Head of 
Governance, People & Performance which sought approval of the Council’s refreshed 
and updated Equality, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) approach, including a revised 
statement and action plan. 
  
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report as detailed in OSC/304 to the Cabinet following consideration of the 
matter at its meeting on 5 September 2022, which included: 
       Comments that the report and appendices were interesting and thorough. 

Page 8

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24281/Crawley%20Borough%20Councils%20Equality%20Diversity%20Inclusion%20Statement%202022-2026.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/b11955/OSC%20Comments%2007th-Sep-2022%2019.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Cabinet (21) 
7 September 2022 

 

 
 

       A wish to ensure detailed training is provided for councillors and officers to 
supplement the EDI documents.  Whilst it would be ideal to hire specialist external 
trainers, the additional cost of this was recognised. 

       Discussion of various inclusion matters such as assistance dogs, hearing loops, 
and suitable parking. 

  
Councillors C Mullins and Jones spoke as part of the discussion on the report.  There 
was agreement that the updated approach demonstrated the Council’s commitment to 
equality, diversity and inclusion.  It was considered essential to support the approach 
with training for councillors and officers on a range of EDI matters. 
  
RESOLVED 
  
That the Cabinet: 
  
a)      approves the proposed EDI Statement 2022-2026 (appendix A of report LDS/181) 
  
b)      approves the proposed EDI Action Plan 2022-2023 (appendix B of report 

LDS/181) 
  
c)       approves the proposed Equality Impact Assessment template (EIA), (appendix C) 

together with the proposed guidance notes (appendix D of report LDS/181). 
  
d)      delegates authority to the Head of Governance, People and Performance, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources, to make minor 
amendments to the EDI Strategy, EDI Action Plan and EIA as further changes to 
legislation and statutory guidance are introduced and following an annual review 
of the action plan. (Generic Delegation 7 will be used to enact this 
recommendation). 

  
Reasons for the Recommendations 
  
The new approach and documents will:  
  
       Refresh the Council’s Equality, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) approach.    
       Ensure better communication with regards to the Council’s EDI approach to 

employees, Councillors and to the local community. 
       Ensure that the Council is undertaking the steps necessary to comply with the 

Equality Act 2010. 
       Ensure that the Council factors in EDI when initiating new projects and when 

making important decisions. 
  
 

7. Leisure Contract - Extension of Variation Contract  
 
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing presented report HPS/32 of the Head of Major 
Projects and Commercial Services.  The report recommended approval of the 
extension of the contract variation to 31 March 2023 with Everyone Active for the 
Sport & Leisure Management Contract. The recommendation facilitated the continued 
re-opening of the leisure centres providing the opportunity to continue to grow the 
customer base and membership numbers while ensuring the Council was using 
mechanisms within the contract with EA to ensure a legally compliant approach. 
  
The Head of Major Projects and Commercial Services provided the Cabinet with 
supplementary information about the current membership and attendance rates at K2 

Page 9

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24282/Appendix%20A%20CBC%20Corporate%20EDI%20Statement%2022%20-%2026.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24283/Appendix%20B%20EDI%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24284/Appendix%20C%20CBC%20Equality%20Impact%20Assessment%20Template.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24285/Appendix%20D%20CBC%20EIA%20Guidance%202022.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24280/Leisure%20Contract%20-%20Extension%20of%20Variation%20Contract.pdf


Cabinet (22) 
7 September 2022 

 

 
 

Crawley leisure centre, which were steadily increasing but had not yet returned to pre-
pandemic levels. 
  
Councillor Crow was invited to speak on the item and in doing so welcomed the 
growing membership and attendance figures.  It was suggested that there should be 
no further extensions to the contract variation past March 2023. 
  
Councillors S Mullins and Jones spoke as part of the discussion on the report.  It was 
highlighted that the relationship between the Council and Everyone Active was 
important and that the proposed extension to the variation would allow attendance at 
leisure centres to continue to increase over the coming months.  Cabinet members 
agreed that they hoped to return to the original contract in April 2023. 
  
RESOLVED 
  
That the Cabinet: 
  
a)      approves the extension of the contract variation with EA under the terms set out 

in section 5 of report HPS/32. 
  
b)      requests a further report be brought to Cabinet in Spring 2023 to apprise 

councillors of the future of the leisure contract and associated payments.  
  
Reasons for the Recommendations 
  
The recommendation facilitates the continued re-opening of the leisure centres 
providing the opportunity to continue to grow the customer base and membership 
numbers while ensuring the Council is using mechanisms within the contract with EA 
to ensure a legally compliant approach. 
  
 
 
Closure of Meeting 
With the business of the Cabinet concluded, the Chair declared the meeting closed 
at 8.16 pm 
 
 
 

M G JONES 
Chair 

 
 

 
 

Page 10

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s24280/Leisure%20Contract%20-%20Extension%20of%20Variation%20Contract.pdf


 

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Report to Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
3rd October 2022 

 
Report to Cabinet 

5th October 2022 

2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1 
 

Report of the Head of Corporate Finance FIN/586 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The report sets out a summary of the Council’s actual revenue and capital spending 

for the first Quarter to June 2022. It identifies the main variations from the approved 
spending levels and any potential impact on future budgets. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 To the Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 
 

That the Commission consider the report and decide what comments, if any, it 
wishes to submit to the Cabinet. 

 
2.2 To the Cabinet: 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
a) Agree to note the projected outturn for the year 2022/2023 as summarised in 

this report. 
 

b) Add £40,000 to the capital programme, funded from the Tilgate Park 
Investment Reserve, for a replacement tractor flail as outlined in section 8.7 
of this report. 
 

 
3. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
3.1 To report to Members on the projected outturn for the year compared to the approved 

budget.  
 
4.  Background 
 
4.1 As part of the Budget Strategy, the Council has in place robust budget monitoring 

systems to ensure that unapproved overspends are avoided. The Council also 
manages and analyses underspending to identify potential savings that could help 
meet current and future years’ priorities. 
 

Page 11

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

4.2 Budget monitoring is undertaken on a monthly basis with budget holders. There are 
quarterly budget monitoring reports to Cabinet with the Corporate Management 
Team receiving monthly update reports on key areas and any other areas of concern.  
The Overview and Scrutiny Commission also has the opportunity to scrutinise 
expenditure.  Quarterly monitoring information is also included in the Councillors’ 
Information Bulletin. 
 

4.3 This report outlines the projected outturn for 2022/2023 as at the end of June 2022.  
 
4.4 As discussed in the budget report and Budget Strategy, due to the pandemic it is very 

difficult to accurately forecast our financial position for the year.  
 

5. Budget Monitoring Variations 
 
5.1 General Fund  

The table below summarises the projected variances in the relevant Portfolio at 
Quarter 1. 
 
[F indicates that the variation is favourable, U that it is unfavourable] 

  

  

Variance 
Projected at 

Quarter 1  
     
  £'000's  
     
Cabinet 580 U 
Public Protection & Community Engagement (16) F 
Environmental Services & Sustainability 12 U 
Housing 895 U 
Wellbeing (334) F 
Planning & Economic Development (72) F 
Resources (13) F 
     
TOTAL (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT 1,052 U 
     
Investment Interest (457) F 
Lower Tier Services Grant 76 U 
     
ADJUSTED (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT 671 U 
  
Budgeted transfer from reserves 452 
Total transfer from reserves 1,123 

 
 

Further details of these projected variances are provided in Appendix 1(i & ii) attached 
to this report. 
 
 
Significant Quarter 1 variances over £20,000 

 

Page 12

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

5.1.1 Cabinet 
 

 A pay award offer of £1,925 per spinal point has been made to unions on behalf of the 
main local government NJC workforce. This equates to a 10.5% pay award for those 
on scale 1, with all NJC employees receiving at least a 4.04% increase. The budget 
for 2022/23 had an allowance for 2%, the projected overspend is therefore £800,000.  
 
An underspend of £215,000 in Investment and Operational Properties includes 
£95,000 savings identified as part of the Challenge of Budgets reported in the Budget 
Strategy.  The remaining underspend of £120,000 relates to additional income arising 
from rent renewals. 
 

5.1.2 Public Protection & Community Engagement 
 

There are no significant variations to report this quarter. 
 

5.1.3 Environmental Services & Sustainability Services 
 
New legislation was approved during 2021/22 which provides 100% business rates 
relief for public conveniences, resulting in a saving of £20,000. This has been built into 
future budget plans.  
 
As a result of covid there has been no income from Gatwick Airport for imported food 
fees in previous years. Although this has started to improve, the number of 
consignments coming through the airport is still lower than pre-covid years so an 
income shortfall of £39,000 is expected. 

 
Due to a lack of vacancies in the Environmental Health team, there is an unmet 
vacancy provision of £24,000. 

  
5.1.4 Housing Services 

 
The Homelessness team continue to see sustained pressure with 361 households 
currently in all forms of temporary accommodation. Due to demand, placements by 
other local housing authorities, and commercial hotels being unable (due to refugee 
bridging) or unwilling to take local authority placements, there continues to be reducing 
supply alongside increasing demand which has driven up costs. 75 households are 
currently being accommodated outside of the borough. 

 
5.1.5 Wellbeing 
 

There are currently three vacancies in the Play team which are not expected to be 
filled until later in the year. This is to allow the service manager to review the staff 
structure to be able to provide the best service to residents. The projected 
underspend is £43,000. 
 
Hire for community centres is increasing to near pre-covid levels, with adult social 
care hire also having returned in March 2022. There is therefore a projected 
underspend of £30,000 due to additional income.  
 
K2 Crawley continues to move back to pre-pandemic usage.  The budget allowed for 
£100,000 income from the management fee, and projections at Quarter 1 are for an 
additional income of £273,000. 

  
5.1.6 Planning & Economic Development 

Page 13

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 
There is a projected underspend of £80,000 in the Property-Built Environment team. 
This includes £39,450 of operational savings identified as part of the Challenge of 
Budgets reported in the Budget Strategy.  The remaining underspend is due to 
vacancies within the team.   
 

5.1.7 Resources 
 
Due to a lack of vacancies in the Contact Centre, there is an unmet vacancy 
provision of £33,000. 
 
Following feedback from last year’s election there has been a reduction in the number 
of staff required at polling stations. This, coupled with operational savings including 
postage, has led to a projected underspend of £36,000. 

 
5.1.8 Investment Income  
   

Interest rates have increased sharply due to the Bank of England reacting to 
inflationary pressures and they are expected to rise further.  Current projections are 
for additional investment income of £457,000 for the year. 

 
5.1.9 Lower Tier Services Grant 
  

The provisional settlement received by Government included £272,299 for this grant. 
The final settlement, which came through after the budget was set in February, saw 
this reduced to £195,567: an in-year shortfall of £76,732. 
 

6. Virements 
  
6.1 Virements up to £50,000 can be approved by Heads of Service under delegated 

powers and reported to Cabinet for information. There have been no virements in this 
quarter. 

 
 
7. Council Housing (Crawley Homes) – Revenue 
 
7.1 The table below provides details of the 2022/2023 HRA variances.  
 
                                                HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

                                                

  
 

Q1 Projected 
Variation  

   £000’s  
Income    
Rental Income  0  
Other Income  (5) F 
Interest Received on balances  (170) F 
   (175) F 
Expenditure     
Employees  295 U 
Repairs & Maintenance  1 U 
Other running costs  53 U 
Support services  0  

Page 14

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

   349 U 
      
Net (Surplus) / Deficit  174 U 
      
Transfer to the Housing Investment Reserve  (174)  
      

 
Further details of these projected variances are provided in Appendix 1(iii & iv). 

 
7.2 Interest  
 

Interest rates have increased sharply due to the Bank of England reacting to 
inflationary pressures and they are expected to rise further.  Current projections are 
for additional investment income of £170,000 for the year. 

 
7.3 Employees 
 

The pay award for Local Government is now anticipated to be a minimum of 
£1,925 per spinal point. This equates to a 10.5% pay award for those on 
scale 1, with all NJC employees receiving at least a 4.04% increase. The 
budget for 2022/23 had an allowance for 2%. The additional cost of this is 
projected to be £225,000 for the HRA. 
 
There is an unmet vacancy provision of £77,000 overall within the service. 
 

7.4 Other Running Costs 
 
 The service’s subscription fee to the Housing Ombudsman has more than 

doubled when compared to 2021/22 causing an overspend of £31,000. This 
is largely as a result of The Housing White Paper requiring the Ombudsman 
to recruit additional resource to deal with increase workloads. 

 
8. Capital   
 
8.1 The table below shows the 2022/23 projected capital outturn and proposed carry 

forward into 2023/24. Further details on the Capital Programme are provided in 
Appendix 2 to this report.  

 
  

Latest   
Budget 
2022/23 

 
Spend to 

Q1 
2022/23 

 
 

 
Estimated 
Outturn 
2022/23 

 
Under/ 
(over) 
spend 

 
Re-profiled 

to/(from) 
future years 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s 
      
Joint Responsibility 6,240 4,716 6,240 0 0 

Cabinet 
 

511 46 511 0 0 

Environmental Services & 
Sustainability 
 

824 
 

33 
 

543 
 
 

65 
 
 

216 

Page 15

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

Housing Services 
 

5,385 879 2,896 0 2,489 

Planning & Economic 
Development  

8,323 180 2,246 0 6,077
  

Resources 
 

2,279 8 459 (2) 1,822 

Wellbeing 
 

1,569 171 1,287 0 282 

Total General Fund 25,131 6,033 14,182 63 10,886 
      
Council Housing  23,927 8,884 23,850 0 77 
      
Total Capital 49,058 14,917 38,032 63 10,963 

 
 
8.2 It has not been possible to deliver the cycle path at Crawters /Manor Royal due to 

being unable to resolve issues with individual landowners of the desired route, giving 
an underspend of £65,665.  The scheme partly was funded through S106 receipts 
and will be redistributed in 2022/23. 

 
8.3 Tilgate Lake Bank Erosion is in the design and review stage with the main works 

requiring low water levels with the window of opportunity to commence works before 
this winter has passed giving a slippage into 2023/24 of £120,000. 

 
8.4 The Temporary Accommodation Acquisitions general fund capital budget has slipped 

£2,488,658 into 2023/24, due to the purchase of a property at Ifield Road falling 
through. The service is proactively looking for suitable temporary accommodation to 
purchase.  If a suitable property becomes available, the budget will be brought 
forward into the current financial year. 

 
8.5 The Crawley Growth Programme is slipping £4,077,330 into 2023/24 the Crawley 

Growth Programme Board is holding a series of meetings over the autumn to agree a 
revised programme which will give more certainty. 

 
8.6 The Gigabit project has slipped £1,350,000 into 2023/24 as payment is only due 

when 90% of the CityFibre rollout is complete. 
 
8.7 The current tractor flail needs replacement to ensure that the Council is compliant 

with Zoo Licencing requirements around the perimeter of the zoo at Tilgate.  The flail 
will also help to maintain other large cutting jobs across the Town including high 
speed roads.  It is recommended that this is added to the capital programme with a 
budget of £40,000 and to be funded from the Tilgate Park Investment Reserve. 

 
8.8 Housing (Crawley Homes HRA) 
 
 Acquisition of Land or Dwellings 

Acquisitions of Land or Dwellings has been slipped £1,701,750 forward into 2022/23 
due to the opportunity to purchase additional properties at Forge Wood, with work 
ongoing to identify additional suitable properties 
 
Forge Wood Phase 4b  
Forge Wood Phase 4b has slipped £194,234 into 2023/24 due to the planning 
permission being caught up in water neutrality.  Crawley has been working with all 
the authorities involved with water neutrality to find a way forward. 

Page 16

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 
Breezehurst Phase 2 
Breeezehurst Phase 2 has slipped £689,456 into 2023/24 due to the planning 
permissions being caught up in water neutrality.  Breezehurst has now been granted 
to permit at the Planning Committee on Tuesday 30th August but it is estimated that it 
will take at least six months before any work is started on site as there are various 
other planning obligations to be completed and updated discussions with contractor 
on financial costs.  A revised programme will be presented to the Strategic Housing 
Board in September.  
 
Fairlawn House 
Fairlawn House project is to deliver three new sheltered flats but the team that will 
deliver this project is currently working on Milton Mount and will move to the Fairlawn 
project once Milton Mount is finished therefore slipping £207,134 into 2023/24. 
 

8.9 From the 1st April 2021 the reporting of the use of Right to Buy 1-4-1 receipts to the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has moved to an 
annual return.  Other changes are that these receipts now need to be used within 5 
years of receipt instead of 3 years and can be used to fund up to 40% of new 
affordable homes including shared ownership dwellings.  This was as a result to 
responses to Government consultation on Right to Buy receipts. 

 
8.10 Within the first quarter of 2022/23 Eighteen Council Houses with a sale value of 

£3,212,100 compared to fifteen in the first quarter of last year. Of these receipts a 
proportion will be paid over to the Government with the remainder being retained by 
the Council being set aside as 1-4-1 receipts and general capital receipts. The values 
of each will be calculated within the annual return. [The 1-4-1 arrangement is one 
where the Council retains a larger proportion of right to buy receipts then they 
otherwise would, in return for a commitment to spend the addition receipts on 
building or acquiring properties.]   

 
 
9. Treasury Management 
 
9.1 The Head of Corporate Finance reports that all treasury management activities 

undertaken during the quarter complied fully with the principles in the Treasury 
Management Code and the Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy. 
Compliance is demonstrated in Appendix 3 below. 

 
 
10. Background Papers 

 
Budget Strategy 2023/24 – 2027/28 FIN/583 
2022/2023 Budget and Council Tax FIN/549 
Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 FIN/557 
Financial Outturn 2021/2022: Budget Monitoring – Quarter 4 FIN/572 
Treasury Management Outturn for 2021/22 FIN/575 
 
 
Contact Officer: - Paul Windust, Chief Accountant. 
Direct Line: - 01293 438693 

  

Page 17

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/use-of-receipts-from-right-to-buy-sales/outcome/use-of-receipts-from-right-to-buy-sales-government-response-to-the-consultation
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s21487/20222023%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s21488/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202022-2023.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s23644/Financial%20Outturn%202021-2022%20Quarter%204.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s23643/Treasury%20Management%20Outturn%202021%202022.pdf


 

 
          Appendix 1 (i) 
 

REVENUE MONITORING SUMMARY 2022/23 
GENERAL FUND 

   
 Latest Projected   
  Budget Outturn Variance 
  £000's £000's £000's 
        
Cabinet (4,287) (3,707) 580 
Public Protection & Community Engagement 1,306 1,290 (16) 
Environmental Services & Sustainability 4,771 4,783 12 
Housing 2,743 3,638 895 
Wellbeing 10,127 9,793 (334) 
Planning & Economic Development 1,870 1,798 (72) 
Resources 378 365 (13) 
        
  16,908 17,960 1,052 
     
Depreciation (3,226) (3,226) 0 
Renewals Fund 750 750 0 
NET COST OF SERVICES 14,432 15,484 1,052 
        
Investment Interest (603) (1060) (457) 
MRP 942 942 0 
    
Council Tax (7,891) (7,891) 0 
RSG (63) (63) 0 
NNDR (5,236) (5,236) 0 
New Homes Bonus (606) (606) 0 
Service Grant (251) (251) 0 
Lower Tier Services Grant (272) (196) 76 
     
Net contribution from / (-to) Reserves  452 1,123 671 

    

Page 18

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Main Variations identified for 2022/23 - General Fund Appendix 1 (ii) 
     

 

Q1 Total 
Variation 

 £’000s 
Cabinet  
Pay Award (£1,925 per banding) 800 
Investment & Operational Properties Agreed Back-Rent (215) 
Minor Variations (5) 

  
 580 

Public Protection & Community Engagement  
Minor Variations (16) 

  
 (16) 

Environmental Services & Sustainability  
Public Conveniences Business Rates (20) 
Port Health Income 39 
Environmental Health Vacancy Provision 24 
Minor Variations (31) 

  
 12 

Housing  
Homelessness Pressures 872 
Minor Variations 23 

  

  895 
Wellbeing  
Play Vacancies (43) 
Community Centres Reduction in Expected Shortfall (30) 
K2 Crawley Reduction in Expected Shortfall (273) 
Minor Variations 12 

  
 (334) 

Planning & Economic Development  
Property Built Environment Vacancies and Operational Savings (80) 
Minor Variations 8 

  
 (72) 

Resources  
Contact Centre Vacancy Provision 33 
Elections Reduced Staffing Requirement (36) 
Minor Variations (10) 

  
 (13) 

Page 19

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 

   

TOTAL GENERAL FUND VARIANCES 1,052 
  

Investment Interest (457) 
Lower Tier Services Grant  76 
  
TOTAL VARIANCES 671 
 

 
 
 

Page 20

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 

  
          Appendix 1 (iii) 
 

QUARTER 1    
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

Expenditure Description 
Latest 

Estimate 
Projected 
Outturn Variation 

  £’000s £’000s £’000s 
Income       
Rental Income (48,002) (48,002) 0 
Other Income (2,685) (2,690) (5) 
Interest received on balances (305) (475) (170) 
        
Total income (50,992) (51,167) (175) 
        
Expenditure       
Employees 4,165 4,460 295 
Repairs & Maintenance 13,467 13,468 1 
Other running costs 2,111 2,164 53 
Support services 3,096 3,096 0 
  22,839 23,188 349 
        
Net (Surplus) / Deficit (28,153) (27,979) 174 
        
Use of Reserves:       
        
Debt Interest Payments 8,309 8,309 0 
Depreciation, Revaluation & Impairment 6,216 6,216 0 
Transfer to/(from) Housing Reserve 12,649 12,475 (174) 
     
Total 28,153 27,979 (174) 

 
 
 
  

Page 21

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 

           
 Q1 

 Variation 
 £’000s 
Income   
   
Interest  (170) 
Minor Variations (5) 
   
 (175) 
Employees   
   
Pay award 225 
Unmet Vacancy Provision 77 
Minor Variations (7) 

   
 295 
Repairs & Maintenance   

   
Minor Variations 1 
  
 1 
Other Running Costs   

   
Housing Ombudsman Subscription 31 
Minor Variations 22 
   
 53 
   
TOTAL VARIANCES 174 

 

          Appendix 1 (iv) 
 

Main Variations Identified - Housing Revenue Account     

Page 22

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Appendix 2 
2022/23 Qtr. 1 Capital  
 
Note – Slippage is moving budgets between years. If the figure is not in brackets then we are moving the budget to future years, if it is in brackets we are bringing it 
forward from later years. 
 
d 

Scheme Description Budget 
2022/23 

Spend to 
Date 

Projected 
Outturn 

Under / 
(Over 

Spend) 
Slippage  Budget 

2023/24 
Budget 
2024/25 

Budget 
2025/26 

Future 
Years 

  £ £ £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 
New Town Hall Redevelopment - Joint 
responsibility 6,140,470 4,639,258 6,140,470 0 0  0 0 0 0 

Town Centre Fund            410,000       

Project Jupiter 100,000 76,560 100,000      744,163       

Joint responsibility 6,240,470 4,715,818 6,240,470 0 0  1,154,163 0 0 0 
           

           
Garages 510,571 46,020 510,571      200,000 338,897     
Cabinet 510,571 46,020 510,571 0 0  200,000 338,897 0 0 

           
           

Environmental Services and 
Sustainability                    

New Cemetery 2,530   2,530              

Muslim Burial Ground Cemetery 319,850 5,772 289,309   30,541  30,541       

Cycle Paths 25,300       25,300    25,300     

Crawters / Manor Royal Cycle Path 65,665     65,665            

District Heat Network Phase 2 94,950   94,950              

Flooding Emergency Works 73,357   33,357   40,000  96,804       

Telemetry Measuring Equipment 4,605   4,605              

Leat Stream Ifield Flood Alleviation 7,289   7,289              

Tilgate Lake Bank Erosion 150,000   30,000   120,000  120,000       

Water Course Work  80,925 27,550 80,925              

Solar PV CBC Operational Buildings            60,000       

TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES & 
SUSTAINABILITY PORTFOLIO 824,471 33,322 542,965 65,665 215,841  307,345 25,300 0 0 

           

P
age 23

 6 2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

           
Housing Enabling (General Fund)                    

Temp Accommodation Acquisitions 4,298,258 611,050 1,809,600   2,488,658  6,588,658       

Affordable Housing Town Hall              3,238,250     

Longley House 70,000   70,000      345,000 1,200,000   1,700,000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 1,000,000 268,766 1,000,000      909,537       

Improvement/Repair Loans 16,704   16,704      15,000       
TOTAL HOUSING (GENERAL FUND) 
PORTFOLIO 5,384,962 879,816 2,896,304 0 2,488,658  7,858,195 4,438,250 0 1,700,000 

           
           

Planning and Economic Development                    

Manor Royal Business Group            200,000       

Crawley Fusion Innovation Centre 2,629,114 73,999 629,114   2,000,000  3,650,000 250,000     

                     

Crawley Growth Programme                    

Queensway 116,083 1,590 7,590   108,493  108,493       

Town Centre Signage and Wayfinding 11,487 1,955 11,487              

Town Centre General            71,100       

Manor Royal Cycle Improvements 360,632       360,632  1,775,935       
Town Centre Western Boulevard (cycle 
improvements) 960,307 30,645 692,898   267,409  267,409       

Manor Royal Super Hub 263,028       263,028  263,028       

Station Gateway 331,491 69,381 104,381   227,110  1,971,623 2,880,000 1,990,000 50,004 

Town Centre Super Hub                  74,231 

Town Centre Commercial Space 2,457,000 2,253 57,000   2,400,000  5,943,000       

Three Bridges Station 493,658   43,000   450,658  450,000 650,000 308,844   

Total Crawley Growth Programme 4,993,686 105,824 916,356 0 4,077,330  10,850,588 3,530,000 2,298,844 124,235 
                     
Towns Fund                    
Manor Royal Business Environment 
Improvement Programme 350,000   350,000      500,000 500,000 150,000   

Green Business Infrastructure Grants 350,000   350,000      860,000 620,000 170,000   

                     

P
age 24

 6 2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

TOTAL PLANNING & ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO 8,322,800 179,823 2,245,470 0 6,077,330   16,060,588 4,900,000 2,618,844 124,235 

                     
Resources                    

Gigabit 1,350,000       1,350,000  1,350,000       

ICT Capital - Future Projects 108,079   40,400 2,679 65,000  65,000       

New Website And Intranet 52,406   52,406              

Digital Works 10,000     10,000            

ICT Transformation Future 75,000     50,000 25,000  25,000       

Power and UPS            20,000       

ICT Cloud 300,024 3,650 82,000   218,024  218,024       

Income Management System 60,000   60,000              

Commercial Property System 2,176 4,086 4,086 (1,910)            

Sharepoint 50,000   50,000              

Agile Working  120,000   70,000 (52,679) 102,679  102,679       

Channel Shift 51,000     (10,000) 61,000  61,000       

Hardware Renewals 100,000   100,000              

TOTAL RESOURCES PORTFOLIO 2,278,685 7,736 458,892 (1,910) 1,821,703  1,841,703 0 0 0 
           

           
Wellbeing                    

Vehicle Replacement Programme 302,500 95,246 206,500   96,000  96,000       

Refurb Playgrounds Future Schemes 39,360       39,360  39,360       

Skate Park Equipment 46,000       46,000  46,000       

Memorial Gardens Improvements 33,400       33,400  33,400       

Tilgate Park 4,769   4,769              

Nature & Wildlife Centre 45,905 35,340 45,905              

Allotments 45,000   58,000   (13,000)  27,000       

Adventure Playgrounds 339,330 22,904 339,330              

Memorial Gardens Play Improvements 16,933   16,933              

Meadowlands 65,000       65,000  65,000       

Southgate Playing Fields 50,851   50,851              

Perkstead Court Play Area Bewbush 20,000   20,000              

P
age 25

 6 2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

Park Tennis 160,460 17,570 160,460              

Halley Close Play 15,000       15,000  15,000       

Curteys Walk Play 15,000   15,000              

Brideake Play 17,000   17,000              

Wakehams Play 55,000   55,000              

Puffin Road Play            18,000       

Browness Close Play            18,000       

Plantain Crescent Play            15,000       

K2 Crawley Replacement Chiller 155,000   155,000              

Broadfield 3G Lighting 45,000   45,000              

Changing Places 97,000   97,000              

TOTAL WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 1,568,508 171,060 1,286,748 0 281,760  372,760 0 0 0 
           

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 25,130,467 6,033,595 14,181,420 63,755 10,885,292  27,794,754 9,702,447 2,618,844 1,824,235 
           

           
Housing - HRA (Crawley Homes)                    

Improvements -                    

Decent Homes 4,992,043 1,570,682 4,992,043      2,300,000 2,300,000     

Renovations 732,929 218,148 732,929      650,000 650,000     

Insulation 2,775,113 145,236 2,775,113      2,200,000 2,200,000     

Renewable Technology/Carbon Efficiency 268,620 126,063 268,620      250,000 250,000     

Compliancy Works 1,671,791 65,556 1,671,791      1,450,000 1,450,000     

Boilers & Heating 1,668,805 202,212 1,668,805      1,800,000 1,800,000     

Electrical Test & Inspection 474,348 84,927 474,348      350,000 350,000     

Adaptations For The Disabled 1,370,571 249,947 1,370,571      1,300,000 1,300,000     

Hostels 187,992 7,968 187,992      200,000 200,000     

TOTAL HRA IMPROVEMENTS 14,142,212 2,670,739 14,142,212 0 0  10,500,000 10,500,000 0 0 
           

           
Other HRA (Crawley Homes)                    

HRA Database 293,273 32,200 293,273              

Bridgefield House 52,776     52,776            

Acquisition Of Land Or Dwellings 298,250 1,117,002 2,000,000   (1,701,750)  298,250       

P
age 26

 6 2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

Forge Wood              1,235,388 1,128,115 776,517 

Telford Place Development 115,973   18,500   97,473  3,902,500 7,730,000 7,986,256 1,010,000 

Forge Wood Phase 2 2,550,414 1,753,160 2,550,414              

Forge Wood Phase 4 194,234       194,234  4,034,751 4,121,345 4,277,787   

Purchase Of Properties 2,700,000 2,680,165 2,680,165   19,835  819,835       

5 Perryfields 50,000   10,500   39,500  191,000 372,076 33,042   

Carey House 69,821 191 69,821              

Fairlawn House 207,134       207,134  207,134       

Milton Mount Major Works 1,606,870 581,780 1,606,870              

Breezehurst Phase 2 860,961 3,505 171,505   689,456  9,380,577 4,973,932   210,000 

Orchards Hostel 21,000       21,000  126,000 196,000 16,485   

Water Neutrality  170,000   170,000              

Contingencies 169,415     (52,776) 222,191  1,137,311 222,191     

Prelims 424,624 45,299 136,924   287,700  287,700       

TOTAL OTHER HRA 9,784,745 6,213,302 9,707,972 0 76,773  20,385,058 18,850,932 13,441,685 1,996,517 
           

TOTAL HRA 23,926,957 8,884,041 23,850,184 0 76,773  30,885,058 29,350,932 13,441,685 1,996,517 
           

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 49,057,424 14,917,636 38,031,604 63,755 10,962,065  58,679,812 39,053,379 16,060,529 3,820,752 

           
           
FUNDED BY           
Capital Receipts (5,716,329) (846,152) (8,124,364) 1,910 2,406,125  (9,075,297) (2,144,779) (419,848) (1,173,469) 

Capital Reserve (152,406) (76,560) (52,406)   (100,000)  (744,163) (314,000)   (586,000) 

Better Care Fund (formally DFGs) (1,000,000) (268,766) (1,000,000)      (909,537)       

External Funding (8,035,746) (54,064) (3,417,184) (18,852) (4,599,711)  (9,255,284) (4,136,500) (2,198,996)   

HRA Revenue Contribution (21,001,905) (3,991,770) (11,507,348)   (9,494,558)  (23,875,073) (22,229,777) (8,084,821) (1,197,910) 

Replacement Fund/Revenue Financing (2,933,633) (118,149) (1,451,733)   (1,481,900)  (1,781,900) (483,508)     

Section 106 (1,101,469) (30,645) (410,734)   (690,735)  (1,028,574) (897,347)   (64,766) 

1-4-1 (2,650,050) (2,221,533) (3,369,818) (46,813) 766,583  (7,009,984) (8,847,467) (5,356,864) (798,607) 

Borrowing (6,465,886) (7,309,997) (8,698,017)   2,232,131  (5,000,000)       
TOTAL FUNDING (49,057,424) (14,917,636) (38,031,604) (63,755) (10,962,065)  (58,679,812) (39,053,378) (16,060,529) (3,820,752) 

 

P
age 27

 6 2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

Appendix 3 
Treasury Management and Prudential Code Compliance 
 
Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is demonstrated in the table 
below. 
 
Debt Limits 

£000 
2022/23 

Maximum 

30.6.22 

Actual 

2022/23 
Operational 
Boundary 

2022/23 
Authorised 

Limit 
Complied? 

Borrowing 261,095 260,325 261,325 271,325 Yes 

Finance Leases 44 44 44 44 Yes 

Total debt 261,139 260,469 261,369 271,369 Yes 
 
Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not significant if the 
operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in cash flow, and this is not counted as a 
compliance failure. 
 
Investment Limits 

 
2022/23 

Maximum 

30.6.22 

Actual 

2022/23 

Limit 
Complied? 

Any single organisation, except the UK 
Government £10m £10m £10m Yes 

Any group of organisations under the same 
ownership £10m £10m £10m Yes 

Any group of pooled funds under the same 
management £10m £10m £25m Yes 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s 
nominee account £10m £10m £25m Yes 

Limit per non-UK country  - - £10m Yes 
Registered providers and registered social 
landlords - - £10m Yes 

Unsecured investments with building societies - - £10m Yes 

Loans to unrated corporates - - £5m Yes 

Money Market Funds £27.75m £10.68m Unlimited Yes 

Strategic pooled funds £10m £10m £20m Yes 

Real Estate Investment Trusts - - £20m Yes 
 
Treasury Management Indicators 
 
The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the following 
indicators. 
 
Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by monitoring the 
value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio. This is calculated by applying a score to each 
investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. 
Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk. 
 

 30.6.22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Target Complied? 

Portfolio average credit rating A+ A Yes 

Page 28

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring the 
amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling one-week period, without additional 
borrowing. 
 

 30.6.22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Target Complied? 

Total cash available within 1 week £22.8m £3m Yes 
 
Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk. The 
upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interests was:  
 

Interest rate risk indicator 30.6.22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Target Complied? 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% 
rise in interest rates £0.276m £1m Yes 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% 
fall in interest rates £0.276m £1m Yes 

 
The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans and investment 
will be replaced at new market rates. 
 
Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk. 
The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of all borrowing were: 
 

Refinancing rate risk indicator 30.6.22 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit Complied? 

Under 12 months 4% 20% 0% Yes 

12 months and within 24 months 5% 20% 0% Yes 

24 months and within 5 years 16% 30% 0% Yes 

5 years and within 10 years 35% 40% 0% Yes 

10 years and within 20 years 40% 50% 0% Yes 

20 years and within 30 years 0% 10% 0% Yes 

30 years and within 40 years 0% 10% 0% Yes 

40 years and within 50 years 0% 10% 0% Yes 
 
Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing is the earliest date 
on which the lender can demand repayment.  
 
Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than a year: The purpose of this indicator is to control the 
Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. The limits 
on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end were: 
 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Actual principal invested beyond year end £5m £20m - 

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £20m £20m £20m 

Complied? Yes Yes Yes 

 
 

Page 29

 6
 2

02
2/

20
23

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

    Crawley Borough Council 
 

 Report to Overview & Scrutiny Commission  
    3 October 2022 

 
     Report to Cabinet  

   5 October 2022 
 

    Budget Strategy 2023/24 – 2027/28 
 

 Report of the Head of Corporate Finance, FIN/583 
 
 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The 2023/2024 General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Budgets and the updated 

capital programme will be determined by the Full Council in February 2023.  This report 
sets out the projected financial position for 2023/24 to 2027/28 for the General Fund 
and the underlying assumptions.   

 
1.2 The report also sets the policy framework for the budget process, recognising that 

there are a range of options for capital investment, income generation, savings, and 
Council Tax levels; none of which can be considered in isolation.  The overall objective 
in the past has been to work towards a balanced General Fund budget over a three 
year period, this however due to the impact of the pandemic  and the new Town Hall 
build, this was increased to four years in Budget Strategy report to Cabinet in 
November 2021.   

 
1.3 The proposed budget will be developed against a backdrop of high inflation. When the 

budget was set, the war in Ukraine had yet to start and this continues to affect global 
economies with the prolonged impact of the energy markets and the consequential 
cost of living challenges, which are playing out in communities with a very high demand 
on the Homelessness Team together with increasing arrears for the Council’s services. 

 
1.4 The report below will give the latest projections together with the actions that the 

Corporate Management team have taken to help mitigate the impact of these 
increased costs.   A further update will be given in a report to Cabinet on 23rd 
November 2022 in the Budget Strategy Mid-Year review report.  

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 To the Overview & Scrutiny Commission 
 
 That the Commission consider the report and decide what comments, if any, it 

wishes to submit to the Cabinet. 
 

2.2 To the Cabinet 
 
 The Cabinet is asked to recommend to Full Council the approval of the Budget 

Strategy 2023/24 to 2027/28 and to:  
 

a) Approve the process for meeting the gap as outlined in section 8 of report 
FIN/583. 

Page 31

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s20711/Budget%20Strategy%20202223%20202627.pdf


 
 

 
b) Approve to continue with the policy of balancing the budget over a four-

year period, including putting back into reserves when the Budget is in 
surplus.  This is due to the current economic climate. 

 
c) Note the following highlights of the Budget Strategy: 

 
i. that the Budget is aligned to the Council’s Corporate Priorities. 

 
ii. that the current budget deficit of £204,109 for 2023/24 is based on a 

Council tax increase of 2.21% which is £4.95 and increases in fees and 
charges of 5% on average.  However table 9 highlights that the gap 
could be higher when looking at sensitivity analysis. 

 
iii. that the outline 5 year forecast as shown in table 3 of report FIN/583. 

 
iv. that the savings identified by the Corporate Management Team 

challenge of budgets of £413,080 have been included within the 
budget projections. 
 

v. that there are uncertainties around Government funding prior to the 
settlement in December and the delay in Local Government Funding 
reforms such as business rates retention and the future of New Homes 
Bonus. 
 

vi. that despite having a £5.26m General Fund reserve that the budgeted 
use of this reserve was £451,730 at the beginning of the current 
financial year, however there is a projected overspend in year due to 
the cost-of-living crisis and its impacts and with so many financial 
uncertainties the reserve must remain between £3m and £5m. The 
Council cannot rely on using reserves in the long term to balance the 
budget. 

 
vii. that no additional revenue budgets have been budgeted towards the 

costs of the Climate Change commitment at this stage.  Table 10 
within report FIN/583 shows existing capital commitments to Climate 
Change. 
 

viii. that items for the Capital Programme are driven by the need for the 
upkeep of council assets and environmental obligations and schemes 
will also be considered that are spent to save or spend to earn but that 
such prioritisation should not preclude the initial consideration of 
capital projects that could deliver social value.  

 
ix. that costs associated with splitting upper floors for the New Town Hall 

were not included within the original budget.  Any costs will be added 
to the capital programme but will be funded from rental income. 

 
x. that an update on this strategy will be presented to Cabinet on 23rd 

November 2022, this will include capital bids and the revised Crawley 
Homes capital investment plan. 

 
 

 
3. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
3.1 To continue with the implementation of the Council’s budget strategy and to deal with 

the Council’s projected budget deficit which is higher than previously anticipated due to 

Page 32

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

the impact of increasing inflation, increased homelessness costs, future Council tax 
and Business rates income projections and impact of the cost-of-living crisis on other 
income sources such as fees and charges. 

 
3.2 To reaffirm the criteria for capital programme bids. 

 
3.3 To note that until the Local Government Finance Settlement is known in December 

2022 these projections are highly likely to change.  Revised projections will be 
presented to Cabinet in November 2022 due to these constant changes, such as 
inflation and demands on services such as Homelessness.  At that meeting any 
revenue growth bids, capital bids, and the HRA capital investment plan will also be 
reported for approval. 

4. Background 
 

4.1  In February 2022, the Council set its Revenue Budget and Capital programme for 
2022/23 (FIN/549).  As a result of the pandemic, the Government implemented a three-
year Spending Review for 2022/23 to 2024/25.  The Council, as with all other Local 
Authorities, received a one-year funding settlement for the year.  In addition to revenue 
support grant of £61,613 two other grants were received. Lower Tier Services grant - 
the original sum advised by Government was £272,299, however the final figure was 
£195,567; this results in a shortfall in the current year against budget of £76,732 as 
identified in the Quarter 1 monitoring report elsewhere on this agenda.   

 
4.2 The ‘Services Grant’ of £251,134, is a grant to support all services delivered by 

councils, this grant includes funding for local government cost for the increase in 
employer National Insurance Contributions. Despite this due to the impact of the 
pandemic on income levels there was still a requirement to budget to use reserves in 
2022/23 of £451,730.   

 
4.3 It is a long time since the Council has had any certainty during budget setting and this 

trend is continuing.  Having come through the pandemic, the Council must now 
address the challenge of high inflation which looks set to impact several of its costs 
significantly.  The impact of any fairer funding review is now looking likely to be 
deferred yet again for at least a further year.  Local Government do not know what will 
replace it for future years.  The costs of the Council’s commitment to Climate Change 
have not been factored into future budget projections; these will be extremely costly 
and budget cuts are highly likely to have to be made to help meet the costs of this 
commitment without significant external financial support.   

 
4.4 The cost-of-living crisis will continue to impact, along with interest rates which are 

expected to increase significantly in the current financial year and not return to modest 
levels until 2024/25.  In addition, for the pay award employees each were offered 
£1,925, and this would result in additional costs of £800,000 in the current financial 
year.  This offer has not been accepted and the cost could be higher. 

 
4.5 Energy costs are expected to increase significantly when contracts are renewed over 

the coming months.  These inflationary impacts will also impact on Council contractors 
such as the refuse and recycling contract and the leisure contract.  For the strategy at 
this point an increase of 100% has been assumed for gas and electricity.  The outcome 
of the contract renewal will be known early in October; however this may be delayed 
due to the announcement by the Government on energy caps made on 21st September 
2022. 

 
4.6 The 2023/24 General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Budgets and the revised 

capital programme will be set by the Full Council in February 2023.  This will be 
informed by the recommendations of the Cabinet and will take into account the 
efficiencies, increased income identified through the work of the commercialisation 

Page 33

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s21487/20222023%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax.pdf


 
 

group, which dovetails with the Council’s Transformation Plan. At the same meeting the 
Treasury Management Strategy will address the financing of the capital programme, 
taking into consideration the capital strategy included within this report. 

 
4.7 Many of the underlying financial assumptions in this report apply equally to the Housing 

Revenue Account as to the General Fund (for example inflation and employee related 
costs).  However, the financial position of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is 
heavily influenced by the financing regime introduced in April 2012.  

 
4.8 Under this regime the Council has taken on debt of £260.325m and determined a 

repayment profile which gives it the capacity to spend capital sums to achieve some of 
its objectives for housing.  This includes a comprehensive stock investment programme 
and the building of new Council homes.   

 
4.9 The Cabinet Member for Housing has delegated responsibility for rent setting.  The 

guidance in the past has been CPI + 1%, this however would be unaffordable to 
tenants.  A consultation paper on Social Housing rents was issued on 31st August 
2022, with a closing date of 12th October 2022.  This paper is saying by law the 
Government must consult and seek views on ceiling options.  The suggestion is that 
the rents are increased by CPI + 1% or by 5%, whichever is the lower.  The paper also 
looks at options to increase on a 3%, 5% and 7% ceiling option. The outcome of the 
consultation will be known before the Cabinet Member sets the rent level. 

 
4.10 The Quarter 1 monitoring report (elsewhere on this agenda), identifies financial 

pressures in the current financial year.  These include pay inflation, energy pressures, 
support for the leisure contract (Covid impact), but the biggest demand is 
homelessness.  Assumptions have been made in future budgets around these 
pressures.  The Corporate Management Team have undertaken a series of budget 
challenge sessions with the Chief Executive and the Head of Corporate Finance, this 
has resulted in savings both in year and future years to help mitigate these pressures.  
However multiple rounds of challenge of budgets have meant that the Council has a 
number of vital services that lack resilience.  Recruitment and retention is a strategic 
risk with some posts difficult to fill in a competitive market.   

 
4.11 With increasing costs it may be necessary to look at the services that the Council 

provides and switch off discretionary services or ensure that these services fully 
recover their costs and are not subsidised by the Council Taxpayer. 

 
5. Key Assumptions  

 
5.1 Local Government has seen reductions in funding for the last ten years.  Assumptions 

have been made that the service grant will continue with some compensation for the 
cost of the pay award and the National Insurance increase, there may be changes to 
National Insurance contributions, this would be fed into the Mid-Year update or the 
budget itself in February 2023. 

 
5.2 For the purposes of the development of the Council’s Budget Strategy, it is assumed 

that the Government will simply roll-forward the 2022/23 settlement into 2023/24 
adjusted for inflation, that there will be support as seen in the current year in the form 
of Lower Tier Services Grant, but this reduces annually.  Assuming this, the table 
below provides a summary of the forecast funding.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s20505/Transformation%20Plan%202020-2022%20Appendix%20B.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/social-housing-rents-consultation


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 Table 1 Forecast of core funding to 2027/2028 
 

 

Actual 
2021/22
 £000’s 

Actual 
2022/23
 £000’s 

2023/24
 £000’s 

2024/25
 £000’s 

2025/26
 £000’s 

2026/27
 £000’s 

2027/28
 £000’s 

Revenue 
Support 
Grant 

60 63 63 0 0 0 0 

New 
Homes 
Bonus 

1,108 606 300 300 300 300 300 

Lower Tier 
Services 
Grant 

363 196 170 128 96 72 54 

Services 
Grant 

0 251 251 188 141 106 79 

Local 
Council Tax 
Support 
Grant 

169 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sub-total 1,700 1,116 784 616 537 478 433 
Estimated 
share of 
NNDR 

4,306 5,236 5,275 5,398 4,941 5,006 5,105 

Total 'core 
funding' 

6,006 6,352 6,059 6,014 5,478 5,484 5,538 

 
 The assumptions above use a modelling tool provided by Pixel the Council’s advisors 

on Local Government funding.  This sees a reduction in business rates funding in 
future years due to business rates reform. 

 
 
5.3 Retained Business Rates  
 

The Government has been reviewing the business rates system for some time, with 
some improvements introduced following consultation last year including: 
 

• a new temporary relief for eligible retail, hospitality, and leisure properties. 
• the Chancellor also announced a freeze on the Business Rate Multiplier. 
• support for small businesses. 
• 100% relief for eligible heat networks from 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2035. 

 
 
5.4 Council Tax 
 
 The Council’s share of a council tax band D is currently £218.79.  Councillors approved 

an increase of 2.31% which is £4.95 when setting the budget this year.  Current council 
tax referendum principles limit district and borough councils to a maximum of 2% or no 
more than £5 per annum (whichever is the greater) without the need for a referendum.  
The assumptions in the plan are therefore £4.95 per annum on a Band D property.  By 
capping the amount that the Council tax can increase it is not keeping up with 
inflationary increases.  With costs increasing this increases the need to reduce 
services or identify additional income. 

Page 35

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Table 2 Projected increase in Council tax 
 

 
2022/23  2023/24  2024/25 2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  

Band D Council tax £218.79 £223.74 £228.69 £233.64 £238.59 £243.54 

Increase 2.31% 2.26% 2.21% 2.16% 2.12% 2.07% 
 
  
5.5 New Homes Bonus  
 
5.5.1 The Government introduced the New Homes Bonus (NHB) in 2011 to give local 

authorities additional money for each new residential property created in the area.  At 
that time Local Authorities would receive a sum equivalent to the average national 
Council Tax for a property in that band for each of the following six years.  In 2017/18 
this was reduced to each year for four years.  For 2022/23, the sum for each new 
dwelling receivable was £1,518.78 with £379.70 per property going to West Sussex 
County Council. 

 
5.5.2 There is an additional payment of £350 for each year if the property falls into the 

definition of affordable housing.  This additional element is paid a year in arrears.  In 
two tier areas the District or Borough Council receives 80% of the bonus and the 
County Council 20%.  

 
5.5.3 New Homes Bonus of £605,604 was received in the current year.  This scheme was 

due to stop but no updates have been received, an assumption has been made for 
£300,000 per annum for future years.  The water neutrality issue will also impact on the 
New Homes Bonus that we are able to receive due to the constraints on development.  
Some scheme would have to be implemented to replace NHB, but the likelihood is that 
more funding would go to Northern authorities as part of the Levelling Up agenda. 

 
6. Budget Projections 2023/24 to 2027/28  
 
6.1 The table below summarises the budget projections based on the assumptions above. 
 
 Table 3 Budget projections 
 

  2023/24  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 
  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 
Base Budget 15,069  14,788  14,507  14,732  15,066  
Investment interest           
(-  receivable, + payable) -582  176  231  231  231  
Net Budget  (A) 14,487  14,964  14,738  14,963  15,297  
            
Funded by -           
Council Tax 8,223  8,531  8,866  9,235  9,615  
New Homes Bonus 300  300  300  300  300  
Retained Business Rates 5,276  5,398  4,941  4,979  5,029  
Revenue Support Grant 63  0  0  0  0  
Services Grant 251  188  141  106  79  

Page 36

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Lower Tier Services Grant 170  128  96  72  54  
Total Funding (B) 14,283  14,545  14,344  14,692  15,077  
            
Budget Gap (A-B) 204  419  394  271  220  

 
 Previous budget strategies have been to balance a budget over a four-year period.  

This was because of the staggered approach to the allocation of the letting of the upper 
floors of the New Town Hall had been assumed.  In the longer term there is still a gap 
of £220,000.  To meet this gap either savings need to be sought or increased income 
achieved such as increasing fees and charges for garages as shown elsewhere on this 
agenda. 

  
6.2 The Savings Strategy developed during 2020 because of the impact of the pandemic 

achieved ongoing savings of £2.132m to ensure that future budgets were sustainable 
and to avoid any s114 notice.  These were - 

 
 
 Table 4 – Previous savings identified 
 

Saving 2021/22 
£ 

Current Year 
£ 

Corporate Management Team – challenge of 
budget review. 

506,450 506,450 

Member approved savings – see table 5 below 506,000 819,000 
Appropriation of garages from HRA to General 
Fund (FIN/511) 

 
807,000 

 
807,000 

Total savings identified to meet future 
budget gaps 

1,819,450 2,132,450 

 
 

Table 5 – Savings identified in 2020 
 

 Saving Full Year effect from 
2022/23 

£ 
Community and Voluntary Sector 212,000 
Superloos 52,000 
Adventure play 210,000 
Pitch and Putt / fine turf pitches 28,000 
Fees and charges 137,000 
Essential users / standby (internal and not part of public 
consultation) * 

100,000 

Neighbourhood Services (internal and not part of public 
consultation) 

80,000 

Total 819,000 
 

 *This saving was not achieved. 
 
During the current financial year the cost-of-living crisis has resulted in the need to 
identify further savings and efficiencies, as a result CMT have undertaken a further 
challenge of budgets and have identified £413,080.  A breakdown of these savings is 
shown in Appendix A.  In addition, there was £56,970 identified within Crawley Homes. 

 
 Without these savings the budget gap would be higher as shown in the table below. 

This would have resulted in a savings target of £897,000. 
 
  

Page 37

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15251/Appropriation%20of%20Garages%20from%20the%20HRA%20to%20the%20General%20Fund.pdf


 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Table 6 Budget Gap before challenge of budgets savings 
 
  2023/24  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 
  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 
Gap in Table 3 above 204 419 394 271 220 
CMT Challenge of budgets 413 413 413 413 413 
Gap before CMT mitigations 617 832 807 684 633 

 
 

6.3 The table below gives the assumptions that have been used when calculating the 
budget gap as outlined in Table 3 above. 

 
 

Table 7 - Summary of assumptions  
 

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 
Pay Award 7.4% 3.5% 2.5% 2.0% 2.0% 
Running costs 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Contracts - RPI 12.3% 10.87% 2.74% 1.38% 1.72% 
CPI 10.1% 9.53% 2.0% 0.76% 1.00% 
Gas  100.0% 2.7% -40.0% 2.7% 2.7% 
Electricity 100.0% 10.87% -40.0% 1.92% 2.72% 
Customer receipts 5.00% 3.50% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 
Tax Base change 2.0% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

 
The tax base includes an allowance of the numbers of new builds but also a provision 
for variations in the numbers of claimants for Council Tax Reduction.   This is based on 
external advice and looks at the local plan, water neutrality however, may slow growth 
in properties down. 
 

6.4.1 Homelessness 
 There is a projected overspend on temporary accommodation in the current financial 
year, with the total annual budget spent in the first quarter.  The current year budget is 
£900,000.  Estimated year end spend is £2.8m.  This cost is mitigated in part through 
charges to the users of the service and income from housing benefits.    After using 
one off grants in the current year there will be a projected overspend of c£900,000.  
However, it is highly likely that this situation will remain due to the cost-of-living crisis.  
Therefore, a provision of an additional £900,000 has been included in the budget for 
2023/24 for homelessness.  This sum is then assumed to reduce to £400,000 in 
2024/25 and by a further £200,000 in 2025/26 and 2026/27 to get back to the current 
level in future years.  There was a proposal to purchase a property that would assist in 
reducing numbers in temporary accommodation but unfortunately the property was 
taken off the market.  There are significant future risks around homelessness that are 
outside of the control of the council, these assumptions around future reductions will be 
constantly monitored. 

  
6.4.2 Pay Award  

 
Local Government pay is negotiated nationally, and the Council has no direct influence 
on the settlement.  The budgeted increase was 2% in the current financial year, this 
was set back in February 2022.  An assumption of 4.5% has been included for 2023/24 

Page 38

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

however the figure above is higher as it is considering the additional costs associated 
with the current pay offer.  The offer of £1,925 per full time equivalent is more in the 
region of 5.8%.  This pay award however has not been accepted. 

  
6.4.3 Investment Interest   
 

The Council has traditionally relied heavily on investment interest to support the revenue 
budget.   Interest rates have been at an all-time low of 0.1% until December 2021.  The 
Bank of England have increased rates rapidly since then as they attempt to keep inflation 
under control.  The current base rate is now 1.75% and is expected to peak at 2.75% by 
the end of this year before falling back as inflation eases. 

             
 An average investment rate of 2.45% has been assumed for 2023/24, falling to 1.89% 

in 2024/25 and 1.85% in 2025/26.  Interest rate projections will be kept under constant 
review during the year. 

 
Expenditure on the capital programme results in reduced investment income as there 
are fewer resources available for investment.  However, delays in the capital 
programme will result in higher balances available than anticipated for investment.   

 
6.4.4 Pensions 
  
 The actuarial revaluation of the pension fund managed by West Sussex County 

Council has recommended a 1.0% decrease in employers’ contributions per annum 
from 2020/21 and for the following two years.  Early indications are that a further 1% 
reduction can be included within 2023/24 budgets. 

  
6.4.5 General Inflation 
 The table below shows projected levels of inflation. 

 
  

In recent years many budgets have been frozen or reduced which has compensated 
for those budgets that have increased by more than the base assumption (for example 
energy and fuel).   

 
6.4.6 Fees and Charges –  
  
 In previous years the average increase of CPI or 2% has been approved for fees and 

charges budgets, whichever is the highest.  This is based on the September CPI. 
 CPI is running very high and by increasing all fees and charges by over 10% would 

result in most services being unobtainable. However, an increase of 2% would result in 
a larger budget gap and is not sustainable because of the pressures on budgets 

Page 39

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

including homelessness, pay, utility bills and general inflation.  There is a projected 
budget gap due to all these pressures; therefore, fees and charges will have to be 
increased by a minimum average of 5% to help mitigate this.  Some fees and charges 
may not go up as high, these will be mitigated by others with a higher increase. 

 
 Councils are having to increase fees and charges to help balance budgets due to all 

the other pressures, neighbouring Councils are looking at increasing above 6%. 
Each further 1% increase in fees and charges will result in additional income of 
£150,000. 

 
  An agreed saving suggestion was a review of fees and charges to ensure that they do 

cover the cost where appropriate of the provision of the service.   
 

As part of the transformation programme there are reviews of some fees and charges 
to ensure that where appropriate costs are covered.  The 2021/2022 Budget and 
Council Tax FIN/514 report, appendix 7, page 40 approved the pricing strategy which 
was approved in February 2021 by Full Council. 
 
Fees and charges - Water Neutrality, planning fees 
 
Following the position statement from Natural England on water neutral planning 
applications a provision for £120,000 for reduced income has been included in both the 
current and 2023/24 financial years. 
 

6.4.7 New Town Hall Assumptions 
 
 Within the financial projections the assumptions around letting the upper floors of the 

New Town Hall are – 
 
   Table 8 
  

Financial Year Number of floors 
2022/23  0.5 (assume one floor for 6 months) 
2023/24 Two floors fully let 
2024/25 Three floors fully let 
2025/26 Four floors fully let 
2026/27 Four and a half floors 

 
 Assumptions are that the building would never be fully let.  If it was, a reserve would be 

set aside from additional income from the final floor to cover lost income during void 
periods and future repairs to the shared space or enhanced services in consultation 
with the public.  Assumptions around the letting of floors will be updated once the 
building is complete and there is more confidence in the market.   

 
 A new reserve has been created to help with smoothing out the letting income 
compared with budget assumptions.  This reserve could also be called upon to absorb 
the costs of splitting floors when tenants request half a floor rather than a full floor.  
This reserve however is only £150,000, should two floors not be let and occupied by 1st 
April 2023 there would be a need to use the general fund reserve. 
 
When the budget was approved back in 2018 for the new Town Hall there was no 
provision for splitting floors included. The commercial market has changed because of 
the pandemic with more hybrid working and companies looking for a smaller footprint, 
as a result demand for half a floor is higher than previously anticipated, but by 
accommodating this we can ensure occupancy. 
 
Any costs of splitting would be capital by nature.  The costs would therefore have to be 
included within the capital programme. The cost of this would come from the new 

Page 40

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s16999/10.%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax%20FIN514.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s16999/10.%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax%20FIN514.pdf


 
 

reserve or from future income from tenants; rental values are exceeding our 
expectations and the cost of splitting these floors will be met over the medium to long 
term. 
 

6.4.8 The new Environment Act passed into legislation in November 2021.  There are 
changes which have a potential financial impact, these include - 

 
• The implementation of charges for the producers of packaging towards the cost 

of disposal (Producer pays principle) which will be distributed to local 
government although it is unclear how this will be distributed. 

• The implementation of weekly food waste collections by 2024/25. 
• The potential requirement to provide free fortnightly garden waste collections to 

all households, this is currently charged for via a subscription service. 
 

The Government has committed to funding the net cost of the proposed changes, 
however there is little information at this time on how any funding mechanisms will work 
and whether the funding is sufficient to cover the costs of the proposals.  Therefore, 
there has been a provision made for £300,000 of additional costs in future years, this is 
based on estimates obtained by consultants on the impact.  There is also a provision 
for additional costs of extending the existing contract after February 2024. 

 
6.4.9 Sensitivity Analysis 
 With there being so many unknowns around inflation the table below shows the impact 

on the projected gap on making changes to these assumptions.  The Table below 
shows the impact of changes in inflationary factors. 

 
Table 9 – Sensitivity Analysis 

 
  2023/24  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 
  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 
Gap in Table 3 above 204 419 394 271 220 
Gap with -            
An increase in pay by 1% in 
23/24 390 611 590 471 424 
Pay the same but gas and 
electricity at 200% 576 824 637 518 472 
CPI an additional 1% 273 495 471 349 299 

 
Because of all the uncertainties there is a requirement to leave the general fund 
balance at its current high level, see 7.1 below. 
 
 

6.5 Modelling for future years at this stage is difficult.  The impact on Business Rates and 
Council Tax is significant. There will also be demands on services such as benefits, 
and homelessness as described above. As people claim Universal Credit, they are 
entitled to Council Tax reduction, this results in less Council Tax collectable to support 
Council services.    

 
The cost of supply of materials has resulted in costs increasing significantly, together 
with increased cost of utilities and fuel to factor into future budgets.  The pay offer is 
significantly higher than anticipated and additional Government support to fund this is 
highly unlikely. 
 
As referred to above the Council’s income streams are likely to continue to be 
impacted by any longer-term downturn in the economy and any future outbreaks. The 
cash flow and budgetary impact on the council will be significant. There continues to be 
a growing gap between funding and service pressures, driven by demographic change, 

Page 41

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

unfunded burdens such as net zero. This places additional pressures on council 
services. 
  

7. Reserves  
 

Appendix B explains why the Council holds reserves and gives more details of the 
types of reserves held. 

 
Local government has had reduced financial resources from the Government and it is 
clear that this is going to continue for several years.  
 
For both the Housing Revenue Account and the General Fund, the Council needs 
sufficient funds to be able to sustain services. In the case of the Housing Revenue 
Account the reserves are sufficient, and no changes are proposed. 

 
7.1 General Fund Reserve 
 

The current year budgeted use of reserves is £451,730, however there is a projected 
overspend in the current financial year, this will result in use of reserves in the region of 
£1.123m as projected in the Quarter 1 monitoring report.  The General Fund reserve is 
currently £5.46m. The use of reserves in the current year would take this reserve to 
£4.334m.  
 
The net budget for the current financial year before the use of reserves is £14.770m.  
The recommendation is to have a minimum of £3m in the past which is 20% of the net 
budget.  There is therefore an additional £1.334m available in this reserve that is 
uncommitted. However with so many unknowns around demands on services including 
homelessness, reduced income due to budgetary pressures and inflation factors 
together with the uncertainty of letting the upper floors of the new Town Hall this level 
of reserves should be protected at this stage.   Based on the impact that the last two 
years have had on budgets at this stage a minimum of £3m is recommended and a 
maximum of £5m.  A review of this reserve can take place once the cost-of-living crisis 
has stabilised.   A provision of 20% is a healthy balance during normal circumstances.  
Any surplus could be transferred to the capital programme reserve to meet future costs 
of the programme. 

 
7.2 Earmarked Reserves 
 
 The level of reserves should be regularly reviewed. The Corporate Management Team 

is currently reviewing these reserves and looking at identifying sums that can be used 
to help with the cost-of-living crisis to help residents.  This will be reported to Cabinet at 
its meeting in November. 

 
8. Budget Process and Savings Strategy 

 
8.1 The proposed strategy to meet the gap is -  

 
1. Identify potential for permanent savings by the Corporate Management Team as 

part of the challenge of budgets process (£413,080 identified). 
 

2. Identify additional income opportunities through the commercialisation agenda.  
Where possible ensure that discretionary service is self-financing.   
 

3. Undertake several thematic and service reviews to improve services and drive future 
efficiencies, these reviews are in early stages and will be reported to future 
Overview and Scrutiny and/or Cabinet meetings. 

 

Page 42

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

4. Go to public consultation on proposed budget cuts to services to be implemented 
from April 2023 (last resort). 

 
8.2  Where budgetary proposals identify the need for the reduction of, or closure or 

discontinuance of a service, appropriate consultation will need to be carried out. The 
Council will also have to have due regard to the public sector equality duty under 
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in making their decisions. The equalities impact 
will be addressed on proposals as they are developed.  

 
 
 
9. Capital Funding  
 
9.1 Future bids for capital should be based on expenditure required to maintain the 

Council’s assets, for environmental obligations such as flood prevention and for 
disabled facilities grants.  In addition bids will be for spend to save projects or spend to 
earn investment income but that such prioritisation should not preclude the initial 
consideration of capital projects that could deliver social value.  Due to commitments 
within the capital programme future large capital schemes will result in borrowing.   

 
The Treasury Management Strategy which will be reported to Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission, Cabinet and Full Council in February 2023 will address these borrowing 
requirements.   

 
Attached as Appendix C is the Capital Strategy. 
 

9.2 The balance available for capital bids is £2m using current available capital resources 
over the next two years.  Bids are being worked up, these will be reported to the 
Corporate Projects Assurance Group (CPAG) and then will be presented to an all 
Member working group in October 2022 and Cabinet in November 2022 for approval 
for inclusion in the future capital programme.  
 
 

9.3 Towns Fund 
 The Council was identified as one of 101 places to receive funding as part of the 

£3.6bn Towns Fund.  The maximum allocation to Crawley was £21.1 million subject to 
the outcome of the Comprehensive spending review and that all conditions are met.  
The schemes identified were -  

 
• Crawley innovation centre –establishing Crawley’s first advanced engineering 

and digital technologies fusion centre  
• Invest in Skills - infrastructure for vocational training and higher education  
• Green business infrastructure grants - to attract green technology and 

construction businesses  
• New "Commercial Eastern Gateway" in the town centre – to design and enable 

a hub for professional services  
• A transformed bus station and sustainable transport interchange  
• An investment programme in priority arterial and segregated cycle track - to link 

key employment destinations.  
• Manor Royal Gigabit Business Park –an incentive programme for Manor Royal 

businesses to connect to full fibre and 5G infrastructure  
• Designing a new Cultural Quarter in the town centre – to unlock employment 

and business growth in the cultural and creative industries  
• Manor Royal business environment improvement programme - business 

environment upgrades and modernisation  

Page 43

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

• Crawley home “green retrofitting” programme - to design, launch and deliver 
home “green retrofit” grants. 

 
As schemes are approved by the Department of Levelling up, Housing and 
Communities and funding received these are added to the capital programme and to 
revenue budgets where applicable. 
 

9.4 Climate Change  
 The commitment to the climate change targets will be very costly and in the case of 

Crawley Homes housing stock will not result in any additional rental income from 
investment.  However it should help with fuel poverty.  The table below shows what is 
currently in the capital programme for such initiatives. 

 
Table 10 below shows the current commitment of £21,819m towards climate change 
initiatives 
 

 
Table 10 Climate change initiatives 

 
 

10. Housing Revenue Account 
 
10.1 Full Council on 22 February 2012 (FIN/257) approved the payment of £260.325m to 

the Department for Communities and Local Government as part of the Government’s 
abolition of the previous housing subsidy regime.  The money was borrowed via a 
series of loans from the Public Works Loan Board.  The repayment dates vary between 

Scheme Description

Projected 
Spend 
Current 

Year

Budget 
2023/24

Budget 
2024/25

Budget 
2025/26

Future 
Years

£ £ £ £ £
Heat Network 337,622
Cycle Paths 25,300
Crawters / Manor Royal Cycle Path
District Heat Network Phase 2 94,950
Flooding Emergency Works 33,357 96,804
Telemetry Measuring Equipment 4,605
Leat Stream Ifield Flood Alleviation 7,289
Tilgate Lake Bank Erosion 30,000 120,000
Water Course Work 80,925
Solar PV CBC Operational Buildings 60,000
Crawley Growth Programme
Manor Royal Cycle Improvements 1,775,935
Town Centre Western Boulevard (cycle 
improvements) 692,898 267,409

Manor Royal Super Hub 263,028
Town Centre Super Hub 74,231
Towns Fund
Manor Royal Business Environment 
Improvement Programme 350,000 500,000 500,000 150,000

Green Business Infrastructure Grants 350,000 860,000 620,000 170,000

Housing - HRA (Crawley Homes)
Improvements -
Insulation 2,775,113 2,200,000 2,200,000
Renewable Technology/Carbon Efficiency 268,620 250,000 250,000
Boilers & Heating 1,668,805 1,800,000 1,800,000

Total Climate Change initiatives 6,694,184 8,193,176 5,395,300 320,000 74,231

Page 44

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet/20120208/Agenda/INT228846.pdf


 
 

2022/2023 and 2037/2038. Based on the current capital programme, it will be 
necessary to replace some of these loans and this will be reported in the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

 
10.2 The net effect of these changes was that the HRA had budgeted for significant surplus 

over the following years. This was to enable the Council to make capital investments 
that will help it achieve its corporate housing objectives.  Investments already approved 
include the provision of housing at Breezehurst Drive, Bridgefield House and Forge 
Wood. Changes to Right to Buy discounts and the announcement in the July 2015 
budget that rents will decrease by 1% per annum for 4 years from 2016/17, resulted in 
fewer resources available to meet all aspirations.  

 
10.3 The HRA 30-year plan is constantly being updated and is reported to the affordable 

housing group.  This takes both revenue and capital budget projections and shows 
resources available for future investment in housing. The impact of the rents error 
going back to 2014 was fed into this plan. 

 
10.4 The debt cap has subsequently been removed.  This would allow an increase in 

borrowing to build more housing.  In addition the transfer of garages to the General 
fund resulted in more resources being available.  However there are delays in building 
programmes due to the water neutrality issue and the need to provide offsets. 

 
10.5 The capital investment plan for Crawley Homes for approval in future capital budgets, 

this is funded from the HRA, will be reported to Cabinet in November. 
   
11. Risk Management 
 
11.1 The risks associated with the Council’s Budget Strategy as previously set out. The 

Covid-19 Pandemic has had a significant impact on the Council’s activities and 
continues to do so. This represents a further risk to the financial position of the 
Council. In addition the cost-of-living crisis is impacting significantly on costs and 
future income. 

 
11.2 The key risks for the Council highlighted in this report is the future funding provided 

by the Government for both revenue and capital spending and the impact of the 
cost-of-living crisis, impacting especially on the homelessness budget. These 
matters taken together pose a significant business risk to the Council and requires 
effective action to be taken.  As identified above there is rising costs of inflation, 
homelessness, costs of pay award, supply costs and issues and increasing costs of 
utilities. 
 

11.3 There will also be costs associated with the Climate Emergency Action Plan that will 
have to be factored into future budgets.  Therefore there may be a need, to put in 
place plans to make savings/increased income to achieve a balanced budget in the 
longer term and this will inevitably impact on the Council’s ability to maintain existing 
service levels. 

 
11.4 There remains a great deal of uncertainty regarding the timing and implications of 

reforms including the Fair Funding review and the outcome of the Spending Review.  
 
11.5 A key component of the CIPFA Financial Management Model is assessing the 

financial resilience and sustainability of the Council.  Appendix D contains an 
assessment of this financial strategy against key financial indicators to verify the 
ongoing financial resilience of the Council. 

 
12. Background Papers 
 

Page 45

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 Cabinet Reports 25 November 2020 
Appropriation of Garages from the HRA to the General Fund - FIN/511 
Cabinet Reports 24 November 2021 
Crawley Homes Rent Overcharge DCE/11 
Cabinet Reports 2 February 2022 
2022/2023 Budget and Council Tax FIN/549 
Treasury Management Strategy 2022/2023 FIN/557 
Cabinet Reports 6 July 2022 
Treasury Management Outturn 2021/2022 FIN/575 
Cabinet Reports 8 February 2012 
2012/2013 Budget and Council Tax FIN/257 

  

Page 46

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15251/Appropriation%20of%20Garages%20from%20the%20HRA%20to%20the%20General%20Fund.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s20690/Crawley%20Homes%20Rent%20Overcharge.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s21487/20222023%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s21488/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202022-2023.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s23643/Treasury%20Management%20Outturn%202021%202022.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet/20120208/Agenda/INT228846.pdf


 
 

 
 

Appendix A – Challenge of Budgets 
 

 
Budget Challenge Savings Summary 

  
General Fund  £  

  
Anti-Social Behaviour  
Nuisance and Anti-Social Behaviour Team Uniforms        1,200  

        1,200  
Community Services  
Community Safety - Subscriptions        3,000  
Community Development - Training & Operational Costs        2,200  
Neighbourhood Services - Street Furniture, Casual staff, and 
Operational Costs      51,500  
Port Health Investigation - Subscriptions        1,000  
Pest control - Fuel        1,300  
Car parks - Abandoned Vehicles        5,630  
Car parks - Town Hall MSCP Business Rates & Cash Security      13,070  

      77,700  
Corporate Finance  
Pension added years (people reaching retirement age)      20,000  
Training and misc. expenses        7,500  
Investment property repairs      20,000  
Commercial property savings including business rates      34,000  
Commercial rent (discretionary relief)      40,000  

    121,500  
Digital & Transformation  
Transformation team - Training        1,500  
IT Business Support - various expenses        8,070  
Contact Centre - Uniforms, training, cash security        6,900  
Printing        6,000  
 
       22,470  
Governance, People and Performance  
Committee Administration - various expenses        1,300  
Civic ceremonials - External Hospitality & Civic Regalia        2,400  
Electoral registration - Printing        1,000  
HR - Overtime           670  
Occupational Health - Managed Services & operational savings        7,660  

      13,030  
Major Projects & Commercial Services  
CCTV savings        2,610  
K2 Leisure Centre - Floral Decorations      11,630  
Metcalf way vehicle workshop - subcontracted        5,000  
Community facilities - Staff & Licences        9,630  
Recycling & Waste reduction - fees & charges      35,000  
Public Conveniences - business rates and running costs      19,610  
Cemeteries - Grave spaces and burial fees      10,000  

Page 47

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Built Environment - managed services & misc. expenses      39,450  

    132,930  
Economy and Environment  
Head of Environment Services - Training & Hospitality        1,000 
Development management service - Operational Costs      13,250  

      14,250  

   
Car Allowances      30,000  

   
TOTAL GENERAL FUND    413,080  
 
 
 
 
 
   
  
HRA £ 
Policy and Engagement - Operational Costs      11,820  
Housing Management - Overtime & Operational Costs      20,600  
Responsive Repairs (Staff) - Software Licences        6,980  
Programmed Works - Operational Costs        8,750  
Support Services - Translation & Interpretation        1,000  
Caretaking and Cleaning - Operational Costs        2,620  
Leasehold Services - External Agency Staff        5,200  

      56,970  

  
TOTAL HRA      56,970  

 
  

Page 48

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 
Appendix B – Reserves 

There are two purposes for holding reserves. The first is to have sufficient funds to be 
able to maintain services, both in the short and medium term. The second is to 
earmark funds for specific purposes. There should be plans to spend earmarked 
reserves, even if the amount and timing of that spending is uncertain.  In accordance 
with CIPFA guidance, earmarked reserves are held for several purposes:  

  
• Sums set aside for major schemes such as capital developments or asset 

purchases.  
• Insurance reserves.  
• Reserves for unspent revenue grants.  

  
The nature and purposes of these reserves means that from year-to-year funds will 
flow in and out as projects progress, grants are received, insurance costs are incurred 
and on the other hand capital receipts are set aside for future capital investment, 
insurance funds are topped up to prudent level or authorities seek to set aside funds 
which will allow them to invest to generate future revenue savings. Some authorities 
will have accumulated reserves as part of a plan to ease future budget reductions and 
to allow longer term savings to come to fruition. However, it is not a proper use of 
reserves to just draw down to support revenue budgets with no clear plan for how the 
gap will be bridged in future years when reserves are no longer available. 
 
Councils manage money by dividing it between two pots of reserves - useable reserves 
and unusable reserves (an explanation of these terms can be found below).  

Managing money in this way means that we can budget successfully for what we need 
to deliver services now whilst building up funds that will grow over time and so 
protecting services in the future. 

 The level of reserves should be regularly reviewed. This is particularly true in the 
current situation. Local government has had reduced financial resources from the 
Government, and this is going to continue for several years.  
 

 For both the Housing Revenue Account and the General Fund, the Council needs 
sufficient funds to be able to sustain services. In the case of the Housing Revenue 
Account the reserves are sufficient, and no changes are proposed. 
 

Page 49

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 

 

Useable reserves: This is money that each council has set aside for specific purposes 
an example is insurance reserves.  

Unusable reserves: The unusable reserves pot contains funds that cannot be used to 
provide services or used for day to day running costs. The unusable reserves hold 
funds that have 'unrealised gains or losses'. This means that we have assets such 
as buildings whose value changes over time. There may also be commitments linked to 
these assets such as loans or maintenance needs. The funds held in the unusable 
reserves fund can only be unlocked and turned into usable money if the assets are 
sold. 

General fund / HRA balance: This is a contingency fund - money set aside for 
emergencies or to cover any unexpected costs that may occur during the year, such as 
unexpected repairs.  There is a requirement to keep such reserves at an appropriate 
level. 

Earmarked reserves: This is money that has been set aside for a particular purpose, 
such as buying or repairing equipment or the maintenance of public parks or buildings. 

Capital receipts: This is the name given to the income received when assets are sold 
(such as land or buildings). Capital receipts can only be used to buy or fund capital 
expenditure. Capital expenditure is the money spent on buying assets that have a 
lasting value. These assets could be land, buildings, or large pieces of equipment such 
as vehicles. Capital expenditure can sometimes also be used to fund grants to people 
or organisations. 

Capital grants: Capital grants are sums of money given to councils by the 
government. This money can only be used as capital expenditure, in other words this 
money can only be used to buy assets of lasting value. 

Total Reserves

Usable 
Reserves

General Fund

General Fund 
Balance

Earmarked 
Reserves

HRA

HRA Balance

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Capital 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts

Capital Grants

Unusable 
Reserves

Page 50

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Major Repairs Reserve 
The major repairs reserve controls an element of capital resources required to be used 
on Housing Revenue Account (HRA) assets or for capital financing purposes.  This can 
be used for repairs to existing stock, provision of new stock or repaying debt. 
 
A statement by the Chief Executive of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) - Councils are topping up their reserves where they can, 
reflecting the absence of a long-term funding settlement for the sector, continued 
uncertainty around the spending review and Fair Funding Review and an expectation 
that the long hard winter of austerity is set to continue,’ he said.  

‘Local government reserves play a crucial role in good public financial management. 
They exist so that a council can invest in service transformation for the future or else 
allow them to respond to unexpected events or emerging needs. Critics have been 
quick to criticise these pots of money held by councils, arguing that services should not 
be failing while councils hold reserves. But taking away capital and technical sums 
such as insurance, usable revenue reserves usually only amount to about a month’s 
turnover on operations. And always remember as one-off resources, they can only be 
spent once, while service demands will continue year on year.’ 

 
 
 
 

Page 51

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix C 
Capital Strategy  

 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Code require all local 

authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy which will provide the following: 
• a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 

treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 
• an overview of how the associated risk is managed 
• the implications for future financial sustainability 

 
This Capital Strategy sets out how the Council will manage the investment and 
financing of capital resources to contribute towards the achievement of its key 
objectives and priorities. This includes the appraisal process for determining 
investment decisions and the process for identifying and prioritising funding 
requirements 

 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 The Strategy should demonstrate that the Council takes capital expenditure and 

investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes account of 
stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability, and affordability. 

 
2.2 The purpose of the Capital Strategy is to tell a story that gives a clear and concise view 

of how the Council determines its priorities for capital investment, decides how much it 
can afford to borrow and sets its risk appetite.  It should provide enough detail to 
ensure that all members understand how the Council is delivering stewardship of the 
Council’s resources, prudence and sustainability and meeting the Council’s reporting 
requirements. 

 
2.3 The Department of Levelling up, Housing and Communities revised its Investment 

Guidance and the (Minimum Revenue Provision) MRP Guidance. Local authorities are 
increasingly investing in non-financial assets, and this revised guidance brings these 
investments into scope. 

 
 
3. Objectives of the Capital Strategy 
 
3.1 The objectives of the Capital Strategy are to: 
 

• Prioritise and deploy capital resources in advancement of the Corporate Objectives 
and the criteria within the Budget Strategy which are – 

• Items for the Capital Programme are driven by the need for the upkeep of council 
assets and environmental obligations, 

• and schemes will also be considered that are spent to save or spend to earn, 
• But that such prioritisation should not preclude the initial consideration of capital 

projects that could deliver social value. 
 

There is no annual target of expenditure for capital purposes as the programme will be 
based on the criteria above.   
 
The council is also committed to building affordable housing for local people.  This can 
be through the Housing Revenue Account by building Council Housing; or through 
enabling Registered Social Landlords through the General Fund, where the council 
would have nomination rights for this housing. 

Page 52

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 
a. The Capital Strategy considers all aspects of the Council’s capital expenditure and 

extends to areas where the Council is able to influence others through the use of its 
capital resources (for example housing enabling with Registered Social Landlords). It 
forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital, and balance sheet planning.   

 
b. The Strategy covers capital expenditure, capital financing and asset management and 

is one of the key strategies alongside the more operational strategies and policies for 
these and other areas including Treasury Management, Property Investment, and 
service areas such as housing and other spending areas. It also gives an overview of 
how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.   
 

c. The Strategy provides a set of objectives and a framework, within CIPFA Codes and 
legislation, by which new capital projects are evaluated and decisions made whilst 
ensuring funding is targeted towards meeting priorities. 

 
The Capital Strategy: 

▪ States the Council’s processes for: 
▪ Project initiation 
▪ deciding on the prioritisation of capital projects 
▪ monitoring and evaluating schemes 

▪ Takes account of significant revenue implications (these are included in the 
Budget Strategy) 

▪ Provides a framework for the management and monitoring of the capital 
programme, through budget monitoring and reporting to the Corporate 
Projects Assurance Group. 

▪ Identifies funding and provides a basis to inform bidding for additional 
capital resources (e.g. from the Local Enterprise Partnership, National 
Lottery, Government initiatives) 

 
Project Initiation 
 

d. Capital projects are subject to robust justification process, bringing together a clear 
business case with sufficient detailed costings to ensure transparent decisions can be 
taken.  Business cases are prepared in accordance with the Corporate Projects 
Assurance Group guidelines.  

 
e. Proposals are given independent oversight and review by the Corporate Projects 

Assurance Group.   This includes validation arrangement, estimated figures, project 
milestones and an evaluation of risks.  The group will also consider Governance 
arrangements. 

 
f. For larger projects where feasibility is less certain viability assessments and robust 

business cases are prepared before bids are made for funds.  This includes 
undertaking all preparatory work to fully understand the requirements of the project 
before budget is sought.    
 
Prioritisation on capital projects 
 

g. Capital projects will be assessed based on the criteria in section 9.1 above.  
 

h. The business case put forward for a capital project will be reviewed to ensure it takes 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability, and affordability.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Formal approval process 
i. Project proposals will be direct reports for recommendations to Cabinet. The Cabinet 

report will outline how the scheme is funded.  If part of the annual budget process 
these schemes will have Full Council approval.  

 
Monitoring and evaluating schemes 
 

j. The finance system is used as a tool for budget management, this is accessed by both 
finance staff and capital project managers to give up to date information on project 
spend.  Quarterly monitoring and reporting of slippage is undertaken to ensure that full 
use of resources and effective treasury management is undertaken. 
 

k. A subgroup of the Corporate Projects Assurance Group – the Capital Programme 
Board oversees a range of capital projects, the group will – 

• Receive updates at the end of each quarter from the relevant budget holders to 
challenge the current budget and spend. 

• Challenge any over or underspend and provide advice to prevent further 
variances in spend. 

• Review the future years capital programme and challenge if the schemes will 
be delivered and what governance arrangements are in place. 

• Post project reviews are also fed back, and learning is included in future 
schemes. 

The Council will assign a project manager to each project to oversee planning, 
delivery, management, and governance including risk management of the capital 
project. 

 
Funding the Strategy 

 
l. Funding must be appropriate for the project and will come from: 

 
• Capital receipts – from the sale of assets or finance lease receipts 
• Government grants  
• Third party grants and contributions 
• Community Infrastructure Levy 
• Other developer contributions 
• Reserves 
• Revenue contributions (see below) 
• External (prudential) borrowing  

 
m. The revenue budget has an annual budget of around £564,000 for programmed 

repairs, there is a three-year plan of how to spend this money.  This is based on 
condition surveys and includes works at K2 Crawley, the Hawth, car parks, depots, 
parks and pavilions and community centres.  The Corporate Projects Assurance Group 
reviews these plans. 
 

n. In addition there are annual contributions from Revenue to the renewal’s funds.  
Annually there is a contribution of £100,000 for both IT equipment replacement and 
specialist equipment at the Hawth and K2 Crawley, together with an annual 
contribution of £400,000 for vehicle replacements. Delegation is given to Heads of 
Service for replacement of vehicles and to Cabinet Member for IT equipment.  The 
specialist equipment for leisure services forms part of the approved capital programme 
through Cabinet. 
 

4. External Factors Influencing the Capital Strategy 
 
4.1 Water neutrality 
 

Page 54

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

A Position Statement in September 2021 from Natural England, the government’s 
advisors on the environment, has been received which advocates that until an agreed 
water neutrality strategy is in place and secured, decisions on planning applications 
within Southern Water’s Sussex North Water Supply Zone, where there would be an 
increased water demand implication, the planning applications should be deferred.  
Most of Crawley is situated within the Sussex North supply except for Maidenbower, 
Gatwick Airport and land to the north of Manor Royal. 
 
Natural England has advised that the emerging Local Plan policies should achieve 
water neutrality. A water neutrality strategy is being prepared for all the Local 
Authorities involved by JBA Consulting as required by Natural England that assess the 
in-combination impacts of planned development across the whole area and will suggest 
approaches to offset these impacts. New developments will be required to achieve 
water neutrality though provision of ambitious water efficiency measures coupled with a 
contribution towards the retrofitting to exiting developments to offset impacts. 
 
In July 2022, the Cabinet approved a Water Neutrality Off-Setting Programme to retrofit 
the first tranche of properties providing sufficient water off-set to enable selected 
affordable housing schemes that are already within the Capital Programme to 
progress. 
 

4.2 Climate Emergency Action Plan 
 

In July 2019, Full Council declared a Climate Emergency and made a commitment to 
reduce the Council’s carbon emissions by at least 45% by 2030 and zero by 2050. 
 
With the urgent need to for action the Full Council pledged in December 2021 to 
reduce emissions by at least 50%, and as close to net zero as possible by 2030, and to 
reach net zero by 2040 at the latest. 
 
The Climate Emergency Action Plan to 2030 sets out the Council’s overall aim to 
reduce the Council’s carbon emissions generated by its activities as per the Climate 
Emergency declaration.   
 
The future costs have not been included within the Budget Strategy at this stage as the 
plan is being costed up. 
 
The key areas identified for action are: 

 
• Energy – demand reduction & low carbon heat and cooling 
• Renewable Energy & Storage 
• Low carbon transport – demand reduction & transition to low carbon modes 
• Waste & Water – reduction (linked to procurement), recognising the hierarchy of 

practice. 
• Procurement - supply chain tracing to minimise and reuse, develop ‘closed 

loops and sustainable sourcing for products and services 
• Green & Blue Infrastructure – natural systems for biodiversity and carbon 

stores. 
 

5. Debt and Borrowing and Treasury Management 
 
5.1 The council’s approach to borrowing is set out in Treasury Management Strategy 

2022/2023 FIN/557. The Council will consider external borrowing in the Treasury 
Management Strategy which will be submitted to Cabinet in February 2023. 

 
 
 
 

Page 55

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s21488/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202022-2023.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s21488/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202022-2023.pdf


 
 

6. Commercial Activity 
 
6.1 The Council may invest in other financial assets, including loans and property primarily 

for financial return, which are not part of the treasury management activity. 
 

Officers would use the following criteria to assess potential purchases. It is expected 
that proposals should meet all of these criteria unless there are sound reasons not to. 

  
i purchase price of less than £8m (there is no current provision in the capital 

programme). 
ii preferably freehold, but if leasehold then at least 125 years left on lease, or 

the ability to purchase an extension to the lease length.  
iii an income flow of at least 8 years duration, before either a lease renewal or 

tenant’s option to break. 
iv a covenant check of the tenant confirms the ability to perform the conditions 

of the lease, including payment of rent. 
v the investment should be in such a condition that any further short term 

capital investment would be limited. 
vi whilst Crawley may be a preferable location, other locations within East and 

West Sussex and Surrey will be considered. 
 

The Table below lists the investment properties that the Council owns and their value 
at 31st March 2022.   

 
Name Valuation 
Ashdown House – High Street £   8,337,500  
Atlantic House – Three Bridges £   4,021,400 
Ask – High Street £   1,182,700 
Sub Total £13,541,600 
  
  
Voluntary Organisations (Station Road) £   1,319,200  
Telford Place Car Park £   1,636,500  
Other £   1,391,100 
Total £17,888,400 

 
7. Future Capital programme 

 
The 2023/24 and future capital programme will be included as part of the Budget and 
Council tax report which will be considered by Cabinet and Full Council in February 
2023.  Future use of council property including asset management planning is included 
within the Council’s Transformation programme. 
 

8. Implications 
 
There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in this 
report. Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
public services, the Local Government Investment Guidance provides that the 
Council’s investments are and will continue to be, within legal powers to borrow and 
invest including controls and limitations conferred under the Local Government Act 
2003. 

Page 56

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix D 
 

Financial Resilience Indicators 
 
1. The funding gap as a percentage of net revenue expenditure (NRE) over the MTFP period 
 
The table below demonstrates that there is a robust savings plan in place to address the 
funding gap identified in the financial strategy.  A distinction is made between those savings 
that have been agreed and for which there is a clear delivery plan; those that have been 
agreed in principle but do not yet have a clear strategy for implementation; those that have 
been proposed but not yet agreed; and those that are simply ideas. 
 
 2023/24 

£000 
2024/25 

£000 
2025/26 

£000 
2026/27 

£000 
2027/28 

£000 
NRE 14,487 14,964 14,738 14,963 15,297 
Estimated funding gap 753 973 950 831 783 
Gap as % of NRE 4.3% 5.6% 5.5% 4.6% 4.1% 
      
Savings identified:      
1. Agreed 413 413 413 413 413 
2. Agreed in principle      
3. Proposed 240 240 240 240 240 
4. Potential      
Unidentified gap as a % of NRE (0.2%) 1.2% 1.0% (0.2%) (0.1%) 

 
 
2. Savings delivered as a percentage of planned savings 
 
The ability of the Council to not only identify areas where specific financial savings can be 
made but to also make those savings is a key aspect of ensuring ongoing financial 
sustainability against a backdrop of increasing financial pressures.  Where savings plans are 
not delivered, this can result in overspends that require the use of limited reserves, while 
increasing the level of savings required in future years to compensate for this.  
 
 2018/19 

£000 
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
2021/22 

£000 
2022/23 

£000 
MTFP savings planned (cashable) 695 1,257 628 1,819 313 
MTFP savings achieved 695 1,257 628 1,719 313 
% of savings achieved 100% 100% 100% 95% 100% 

 
 
3. Over/underspend relative to net expenditure 
 
Significant and recurring patterns of underspending may indicate an inability of the Council to 
meet its service objectives, or it might indicate that there are unidentified savings that could 
be taken to fund other objectives. 
 
Overspends met from reserves to balance budgets are not sustainable.  Regular unplanned 
use of reserves reduces the Council’s resilience to fund unforeseen budget pressures in 
future years. 
 
 2018/19 

£000 
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
2021/22 

£000 
2022/23 

£000 
NRE 14,356 17,071 17,114 10,951 14,770 
Over/(under)spend (425) (245) (1,272) (656) 671 
Over/(under)spend as a % of NRE (3.0%) (1.4%) (7.4%) (6.0%) 4.5% 

 
 

Page 57

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 
 

4. Useable reserves as a percentage of net revenue budget 
 
Reserves allow financial uncertainty to be managed.  Healthy levels of useable reserves are 
an important safety net to support financial sustainability.  As well as being available to fund 
unexpected funding pressures, useable reserves are also used to fund projects and capital 
investment.  Section 7 of the report and Appendix B contain more details on the reserves 
held. 
 

 2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 
£000 

2025/26 
£000 

2026/27 
£000 

2027/28 
£000 

NRE 14,356 17,071 17,114 10,951 14,770 14,487 14,964 14,738 14,963 15,297 
General Fund 
reserves 22,225 19,166 38,845 25,512 24,231 21,764 21,281 20,451 20,330 20,260 

General 
Fund 
reserves as a 
% of NRE 

154.8% 112.3% 227.0% 233.0% 164.1% 150.2% 142.2% 138.8% 135.9% 132.4% 

 
 
5. Council tax as a percentage of NRE 
 
This indicator shows the Council’s reliance on government grants.  Council tax is a stable 
income source – an authority with a high ratio will be less dependent on government grants. 
 

 2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 
£000 

2025/26 
£000 

2026/27 
£000 

2027/28 
£000 

Council tax 6,930 7,182 7,481 7,476 7,824 8,161 8,508 8,866 9,235 9,615 
NRE 14,356 17,071 17,114 10,951 14,770 14,487 14,964 14,738 14,963 15,297 
Council tax as 
a % of NRE 48.3% 42.1% 43.7% 68.3% 53.0% 56.3% 56.9% 60.2% 61.7% 62.9% 

 

Page 58

 7
 B

ud
ge

t S
tra

te
gy

 2
02

3/
24

 - 
20

27
/2

8

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
Crawley Borough Council 

 
Report to Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

3 October 2022 
 

Report to Cabinet 
5 October 2022 

 
 

Proposed Increase of Weekly Rent to Council Owned Garages 
 

Report of Chief Executive – CEX/59 
 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1. This report, in accordance with the Council’s budget setting strategy, outlines a 

proposed mid-year increase for garage and storage cupboard weekly rental fees, to 
be implemented from 01 December 2022. 
 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1. To the Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 
 

That the Commission considers the report and decides what comments, if any, 
it wishes to submit to the Cabinet. 

 
 
2.2. To the Cabinet  
 

The Cabinet is requested to recommend to the Full Council the approval of the 
change in garage and storage cupboard fees, as detailed in Section 5 of this 
report to: 
 
a) Increase rental fees with effect from 1 December 2022, with no further 

increase until April 2024 as follows: 
 

i) weekly garage rental costs for Crawley Homes tenants,  
ii) weekly garage rental cost for Private Tenants residing in Crawley 
iii) weekly rental costs of storage cupboards 

 
b) Introduce an additional charge for Crawley Homes tenants and Crawley 

resident private tenants with three or more garages. 
 
c) Introduce a new non-Crawley Borough resident weekly garage rental cost. 
 
d) Introduce an additional charge for non-Crawley Borough residents with two or 

more garages.   
 
e) Remove the previous multi garage discount from any remaining accounts. 

Page 59

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
3. Reasons for the Recommendations 

 
3.1. The Budget Strategy 2023/24 – 2027/28 (FIN/583) elsewhere on this agenda 

identifies in Table 3 an initial budget gap of £240,000 in 2023/24, this rises to 
£419,000 in 2024/25.  This assumes an increase in fees and charges of 5% on 
average, as financially modelled.  Table 9 in the same report identifies some 
sensitivity analysis and shows large increases in the gap should the pay award for 
Local Government employees be higher or inflation be higher, or further pressure on 
providing temporary accommodation for those we owe a duty - therefore additional 
income from garages would support meeting future gaps. 

 
 
4. Background 
 
4.1. The Council owns 5130 garages and store cupboards across all 14 neighbourhoods 

which are made available for rent as a discretionary service. 
 
4.2. The 2021/2022 Budget and Council Tax report (FIN/514) was approved by Full 

Council in February 2021.  This incorporated a new Pricing Strategy, which was 
unanimously agreed at Full Council when the Budget was set (Appendix A),which  
recognises that fees and charges are an important source of income enabling 
services to be sustained and improved. 
 

4.3. Then Full Council agreed to transfer the garage assets from the Housing Revenue 
Account to the General Fund in December 2020 (FIN/511) providing additional 
income to the General Fund going forward. 
 

4.4. A review of the operational aspects of the garage service was undertaken earlier this 
year which focused on providing a service to make the rental of clean, safe and 
secure garages easier for customers.  The process will be integrated into a new 
Housing Management system later this year. 
 

4.5. It was therefore timely to assess the current fees and charges in line with the Pricing 
Strategy by market testing costs with other Local Authorities and other service 
providers to identify any commercial opportunities and promote automated and 
online payment methods.   
 

4.6. Garage rents have been increased in line with CPI for a number of years and current 
prices are: 
 

Weekly rental costs: £11.46 for Crawley Homes tenants 
   £15.23 for private tenants 
   £ 2.00 for store cupboards 

 
 

4.7. Analysis of the current demand for garages in August 2022 shows: 
 

71% Let to Private tenants 
29% Let to Council tenants 
77% Paying by Direct Debit 

 
 

4.8. Garages provide spaces for parking cars, however many are used for storage 
purposes.  A survey conducted by the RAC and reported on their website in 2021 

Page 60

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Agenda Item 8

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s16999/10.%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax%20FIN514.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15251/Appropriation%20of%20Garages%20from%20the%20HRA%20to%20the%20General%20Fund.pdf


 

 

found that 83% use their garage space for storage with many not being large enough 
to store modern vehicles. 
 

4.9. That said the service remains popular for both Council and private tenants due to 
their proximity to residents homes or key locations.  In addition nearly 250 garage 
tenancies are for individuals living outside of Crawley. A waiting list is currently in 
operation, this has recently been reviewed and currently has 83 applications.  
Figures for 01 January 2022 to 31 August 2022 showed that 336 garage tenancies 
were terminated and 405 new tenancies taken, indicating that as garages become 
available they are quickly rented.  
 

4.10. Further service demands identified that nearly a third of garages are rented to 
tenants renting more than one garage. 
 

Number of garages Number of customers (total) 
2 442 (884) 
3 111 (333) 
4 36 (144) 
5 13 (65) 
6 7 (42) 
7 5 (35) 
8 1 (8) 

 
 

4.11. The Council previously offered a multi garage discount of 50% however this was 
withdrawn for new accounts in 2016.  There are still 570 tenancies where this 
remains in place. 

 
4.12. The net income received from garages in 2022/2023 will create a surplus of 

£1,020,050, as shown in the table below.  There is a requirement for repair work for 
some sites along with ongoing annual maintenance costs.   

 
Income 2022/2023 
Rental income £2,625,000 
Expenses  
Employee salaries (including oncosts)  £     85,000 
Responsive Repairs £   200,000 
Planned Repairs (including contractor fees) £   376,950 
Minimum revenue provision (internal repayment) £   828,000 
Interest £   115,000 

Total Income achieved to support services £ 1,020,050 
 

 
5. Proposed rental fee structure 
 
5.1. The benchmarking analysis, Appendix B, demonstrates the regional charges 

associated with the renting of a standard size garage.  Whilst there are some 
differences within Local Authority rates the Council is currently charging at the lower 
end.  Commercial storage options for lock up garages are higher with purpose built 
storage options at the top threshold, however these offer a different service and 
arrangement. 
 

5.2. The proposed fee structure would increase prices from 01 December 2022, with the 
next increase in April 2024.  Charges would still be at a lower than market average 
rate. 
 

Page 61

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 
Proposed weekly rental costs  £13.06 for Crawley Homes tenants 
     £ 17.36 for Crawley resident private tenants 
     £  2.28 for store cupboards 
 

5.3. It is proposed that an additional charge is to be applied to Crawley Homes and 
Crawley resident private tenants with three or more garages providing opportunity to 
make garage spaces available to more residents to meet the waiting list demand. 

 
Proposed additional garage charge £1.50 per week (3 or more garages) 

  
5.4. Garages rented to non Crawley Borough residents would pay a different rate to help 

ensure garages meet the demand of local residents as a priority.  An additional 
charge for each subsequent garage would also be applicable for two or more 
garages. 
 
Non Crawley Borough resident weekly rental cost £20.00 (one garage) 
Proposed additional garage charge  £1.50 per week (two or more garages) 
eg,  second garage £21.50 per week. 
 

5.5. The historic multi garage discount to be removed effective 01 December 2022. 
 
5.6. The above rental structure will generate income in year and during the next financial 

year. 
 
  
 Dec 22 – Mar 23 Apr 23 – Mar 24 
Increased rental costs Crawley residents £ 170,000 £ 510,000 
Additional garage charge Crawley residents £    6,000 £  18,000 
Non Crawley residents rental costs £  20,000 £ 60,000 
Additional garage charge non Crawley residents £      500 £   1,500 

Total £ 196,500 £ 589,500 
Less the 5% already projected/modelled in the Budget 

Strategy 
  - -£134,500 

Total additional income to meet budget shortfalls £ 196,500 £ 455,000 
 
 
6. Implications 
 
6.1. Increasing fees and charges at a time where residents and businesses are incurring 

other increased prices is understandably sensitive.  It does however minimise the 
need for future reductions in services. 

 
6.2. All current customers will be notified in writing providing four weeks written notice of 

the change in charges.  Those that wish to continue with the tenancy are not 
required to take any further action with systems and payment plans automatically 
updated. 
 

6.3. The proposed change in fees is likely to result in some increased levels of contact 
from customers responding to questions or queries however it is anticipated this will 
be handled within the existing staffing from the Contact Centre and Garages Teams.   
 

6.4. Customers who do not wish to continue with the tenancy may give notice to 
terminate, which will take effect once the keys are returned to the Town Hall and 

Page 62

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Agenda Item 8



 

 

subject to the garage being cleared, so not to incur any potential recharge as per the 
tenancy agreement. 
 

6.5. Where a tenancy is surrendered there is a period of lost income during void weeks 
whilst a new customer is identified and secured. 
 

6.6. The Council must take into account implications for people covered by the Equality 
Act 2010 and any particular impact on the protected group.  There are no specific 
equality implications arising from the increase in charges that the Council is 
proposing. 
 
 

7. Background Papers 
 
Cabinet Reports 25 November 2020 
Appropriation of Garages from the HRA to the General Fund - FIN/511 
 
Cabinet reports 3 February 2021 
2021/2022 Budget and Council Tax FIN/514 
 

 
Report author and contact officer: 
 
Sarah Barnes, Transformation Manager 
01293 438714 
Sarah.barnes@crawley.gov.uk 
 

Page 63

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Agenda Item 8

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15251/Appropriation%20of%20Garages%20from%20the%20HRA%20to%20the%20General%20Fund.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15259/Budget%20Strategy%20202122%20202526.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15259/Budget%20Strategy%20202122%20202526.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s16999/10.%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax%20FIN514.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15259/Budget%20Strategy%20202122%20202526.pdf
mailto:Sarah.barnes@crawley.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



      Appendix A   

 

CBC Pricing Strategy 

Introduction 

Fees and charges are an important source of income to the Council, enabling services to be 
sustained and improved. The Council provides a wide range of services for which it has the 
ability to make a charge. These are either under statutory powers (set by the government) 
or discretionary (set by the Council). This is explained as follows: 

Statutory charges 
 

Charges are set nationally and local authorities have little or no opportunity to control 
such charges. These charges can still contribute to the financial position of the 
Authority. Income cannot be assumed to increase in line with other fees and charges.  
 
For Example:  Local Land Charges 
 
Discretionary charges 

 
Local authorities can make their own decisions on setting such charges. Generally, 
these are services that an authority can provide, but is not obliged to provide.  
 
For Example: Green Bin or Bulky Waste collections, and the use of facilities such as 
Community Centre Hire. 
 

Purpose of the Pricing Strategy 

As part of the council’s commercialisation journey and the current financial pressures, it is 
important that our fees and charges are understood and are set to enable the council to 
continue to provide good quality services.  

Key principles 

This strategy sets out the key principles that should be considered when setting fees and 
charges.  

• The full cost of providing the service must be understood and will be determined by the 
following factors: 
 

o Establishing whether they are statutory or discretionary fees 
o Total expenditure including direct staff costs (delivering the service), indirect staff 

costs (involved in the process i.e. admin / payment) and equipment or vehicles 
used. 

o Current fees and charges  
o Current income 
o Current demand for the service 
o Market test costs with other LA’s / service providers 

 
• Fees and charges should be kept simple. 

 
• Fees and charges will be set at a level that maximises income generation and recovers 

costs. At a minimum the service should break even and never run at a loss. If it is a 
discretionary service and running at a loss, then consideration should be given to 
whether we should provide the service directly.   

Page 65

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Appendix aAgenda Item 8



      Appendix A   

 

 
• When considering discounts, the financial implications should be understood and thought 

should be given to how discounts will be funded i.e. other users from the same service pay for it, 
the council tax payer’s generally or from other funding sources. 

 
• The amount of discount applied should be no more than 25% of the total cost to provide 

the service.  
 
• Discounts, where applied, will be on the basis of: 

 
o Crawley Resident discount 
o Customers in receipt of a means tested Benefit - Universal Credit, covers Job 

Seekers Allowance, Income Support, Housing Benefit, Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS), Pension Credit Guarantee Credit and Employment Support 
Allowance (ESA). 

o Age (children, under 16 and seniors, over 67) 
o Support to those with a Disability or carers (Compass card) 

 
• There should be flexibility to alter our pricing at any time in consultation with the relevant 

Head of Service and Cabinet Member, where appropriate. Especially when we have the 
market share in service delivery. Secondary spend may be delegated to the Service 
Manager in consultation with the relevant Head of Service.  

 
• Our fees and charges will take into account the ability of our customers to pay and any 

relevant socio-economic factors. 
 
• Where the Council develops new activities or revenue streams these may initially be 

offered as a “loss leader” to attract and build a customer base before reverting to a price 
that covers costs.  

 
• The fees applied are rounded up, removing odd numbers. 

 
• Payment for services should be collected in the most efficient and economical way 

possible, through direct debit or online payment methods, and accepted in advance of 
service delivery.  

 
• Payments should be set up with the correct service budget codes and clear reference 

information to prevent any error or delay in payments being made. 
 
• To support our channel shift agenda, automated and online payment methods will be 

incentivised by: 
 

o Easier access 
o Priority availability  
o Additional information and access to our marketing / mailing list 

 
• Similarly, high cost payment methods such as cheques, will be disincentivised by the 

addition of a £12 admin fee. 
 

• Cheque payments for services will not be accepted after the 31 March 2021. 

Page 66

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Appendix aAgenda Item 8



Appendix B 

 

Garage Benchmarking Analysis: 

These are current 2022/23 fees, increases to 2023/24 fees will also apply but have not been 
seen set. 

Location Tenants/ Leaseholder 
Price per week 

Non- Tenant Price per 
week 

Notes/ Extras 

Adur Council Standard Size Garages: 
£11.17 for Adur Homes 
Tenants/Leaseholders 

£13.40 for Non-
tenants (inc £2.33 
VAT) 

Fees set to 
increased by 4% 

Arun £13.58 £16.29  

Bristol- council Tenant: £13.29 

Leaseholder: £15.95 
£19.47 inc VAT 
Premium site £39.64 
Business rate:£39.64 

 

Croydon- Council £14   Cost of 
clearance and 
lock change 

Enfield- Council Vehicle £13.50 +VAT 
Storage £26.50 +VAT 

£26.50 +VAT Concessions for 
private tenants 
receiving job 
seekers 
allowance, 
universal credit, 
pension credit, 
employment 
support, 
disability 
allowance, 
carers 
allowance, 
mobility 
allowance.  

Dartford £15.10 £17.92  
Waverley -
Council 

£15.18- £25.58 £18.22- £30.70 Some sites 
exceed average 
prices, up to 
£30, depending 
on garage site 

Horsham- Saxon 
Weald 

£16.22  Only for vehicle 
storage 

Hounslow- 
Council 

Tenant: £15.90 
Leaseholder: £20.00 

£24.00  

Worthing- 
Council 

£6.83 £13.61 Only for vehicle 
storage. Parking 
tickets at garage 
sites 

Guildford- 
Council 

£10.43 non town centre 
£12.69 town centre 

£20.86 for tenants 
living over a mile from 
town centre garage 
space 

20% VAT for all 
non council 
tenants 

Page 67

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Appendix bAgenda Item 8



Runneymede- 
Council 

£16.20  Vehicle only 

Harlow Council £10.67- £13.06  Direct debit- 
online, phone, 
standing order or 
cheque via post 

Fareham Council £13.20 £15.84  
Portsmouth 
Council 

£11 - £24.66   

Peterborough 
Council  

£7.50 - £18 dependent 
upon location 

 With fees set to 
increase by 
8.73% next year.  

Stevenage- 
Council 

£12.05 
Road Facing: £13.70 
New Premium: £15 

£14.46 
Road Facing: £16.44 
New Premium: £18 

 

Raven Housing 
Trust- Horley, 
Redhill, 
Woodhatch, 
Hooley, 
Banstead, Burgh 
Heath 

£14.15  £16.89 for 
second garage 

Southern 
housing group-  
 

West Sussex £10.86 
London £12.93 

West Sussex £13.03 
London £15.51 

 

Lock Up 
Garages- 
Crawley  

 £24/ £25 per location  

Crawley- 
Privately Owned 
Garages 

 £115- £350  

Purpose built 
storage solutions 
Crawley (garage 
size equivalent 
space) 

 £64 per week, for 
initial rental period 
and then increase in 
rates up to £80 per 
week  

 

 

Page 68

 8
 P

ro
po

se
d 

In
cr

ea
se

 o
f W

ee
kl

y 
R

en
t t

o

Appendix bAgenda Item 8



 

 
Crawley Borough Council 

 
Report to Cabinet 

5 October 2022 
 

Proposed Manor Royal Business Improvement District (BID) 
Renewal (“BID 3”) 

 
Report of the Head of Economy and Planning PES/421 

 
 
1.  Purpose of the Report  
 
1.1 Manor Royal Business Improvement District is nearing the end of its five-year term 

(March 2023) and wishes to seek renewal for a further five years commencing 1st 
April 2023. This report sets out the background to the BID, the renewal process, 
financial implications and recommends that the Cabinet support the continuation of 
the BID for a further 5 Year term (2023-2028).  

 
2.  Recommendations  
 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
a) Agree that the Council continues to perform the role of billing authority for a further 

five years, collecting the BID levy on behalf of the Manor Royal BID, subject to the 
BID securing renewal. 

b)  Agree and request that the Chief Executive as Returning Officer and Ballot holder 
should hold a Ballot for the Manor Royal BID Renewal proposal.  

c)  Agree that the Head of Governance, People and Performance be authorised to 
complete the necessary legal agreements required for the BID levy operation 
together with any other necessary documents for the proposed BID renewal.  

d) Agree the proposal from the Manor Royal BID to support the renewal of the BID (BID 
3) for a further five-year term.   

e) Request the Leader of the Council to cast the vote (for the Council’s own rated 
properties in the Manor Royal BID area) in accordance with the Cabinet decision for 
2.1d) during the period of Ballot (see section 7). 

  
3.  Reasons for the Recommendations  
 
3.1  Since the outcome of the Ballot for the Manor Royal BID’s second term permitted a 

maximum five-year BID period to 31 March 2023, a renewal Ballot for a third term is 
therefore required amongst Manor Royal levy payers to determine whether the 
majority wish for the Manor Royal BID to continue for a further five years.  Cabinet is 
therefore being asked to agree the Manor Royal BID’s renewal proposal. 

 
3.2  The Borough Council also needs to determine whether it wishes to continue to 

undertake the role of billing authority, collecting the BID levy on behalf of the BID, 
subject to legal agreement.  

 
3.3 The BID Regulations require the Council as “billing authority” to instruct the “Ballot 

Holder” to hold the renewal ballot. The Ballot Holder is “the person the relevant 
billing authority has appointed under section 35 of the Representation of the People 

Page 69

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Agenda Item 9



 
Act 1983 (a) as the Returning Officer for elections to that authority” – i.e., the Chief 
Executive. 

 
3.4  Given the Council owns three rateable property hereditaments in the Manor Royal 

BID area (see Section 6.8), it will be required to pay a BID levy should the BID be 
renewed for a third term.  This entitles the Council to vote during the period of the 
BID Ballot as a levy payer. 

 
3.5 The Council is required to ensure that the process associated with BID renewal and 

the operation of the Manor Royal BID during a third term (subject to a “YES” vote) is 
undertaken in accordance with the Business Improvement Districts (England) 
Regulations 2004. 

 
4.  Background  
 
4.1  The Manor Royal Business District is hugely important not only to Crawley’s 

business and employment base, but to West Sussex as a whole, the Gatwick 
Diamond and the broader economic sub-region. Alongside Gatwick Airport, it is the 
key reason why Crawley has the second highest job density in the country outside 
central London, contributing approximately 25% of the County’s economic output 
with its own unique economic centre of gravity in the South-East.  

 
4.2  A BID is a legal body which can come into being following a successful Ballot in 

which all eligible businesses have a vote on proposals to establish the “Business 
Improvement District”.  

 
4.3  A Business Improvement District (BID) is a precisely defined geographical area 

where the businesses with premises in that area vote to invest collectively in local 
improvements to enhance their trading environment (Appendix A). The businesses 
pay a levy, which for Manor Royal “BID 3” (2023-2028) is proposed to be equivalent 
to 1.1% of the rateable value of their premises – an increase from the equivalent to 
1% of the rateable value of their premises during the previous two BID terms.  

 
4.4 Businesses in the BID area decide what they want the BID to do, they vote to create 

it and they run it by rules they agree, which must accord with the Business 
Improvement Districts (England) Regulations 2004. This is the legislative framework 
for the establishment of Business Improvements Districts (BIDs), which is contained 
in the Local Government Act 2003.  

 
4.5  The maximum period that a BID levy can be charged is five years. Once the term is 

completed the BID will automatically cease unless it is renewed. There are over 350 
BIDs operating in town centres / business parks / high streets across the UK.  

 
5.  Description of Issue to be resolved  
 
5.1  The original campaign to establish the Manor Royal BID was launched in 2012. In 

February 2013, the Cabinet agreed to support the establishment of the Manor Royal 
Improvement District (BID), culminating in a successful BID Ballot in April 2013, 
where the majority of prospective Manor Royal levy payers voted in favour of its 
creation.  

 
5.2  The Manor Royal BID originally commenced on 1 June 2013 with the establishment 

of the Manor Royal BID Company (MRBD Limited), a not-for-profit BID Company, 
limited by guarantee. It is legally and operationally responsible to the businesses in 
the BID area and for all BID activities. The Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Economic Development is a member of the Company as the Council’s 
representative.  

Page 70

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Agenda Item 9



 
 
5.3  The Council took responsibility for administering the first Manor Royal BID Ballot as 

“Ballot Holder” in April 2013 and since June 2013, the Council has performed the 
role of “Billing Authority”, collecting the BID levy from Manor Royal businesses on 
behalf of the BID and passing those resources on to the BID. The Council is also 
required to provide to the BID billing information related to non-domestic ratepayers 
in the BID area. 

 
5.4  Cabinet agreed in January 2018 that the Council should support the renewal of the 

Manor Royal BID for a second term (2018-2023) and the continuation of the 
Council’s responsibilities as Ballot Holder and Billing Authority, subject to the BID 
levy payers voting to renew the MR BID for that second term. 

 
5.5 In February / March 2018 the Council as Ballot Holder conducted a ballot of BID levy 

payers and following the end of the ballot period the Council confirmed on 2nd March 
2018 that the Manor Royal BID had secured a majority of “Yes” votes from levy 
payers to continue the BID for a second term.  The Council has therefore continued 
to undertake responsibilities as Billing Authority during “BID 2”. 

 
5.6 This report therefore seeks approval for the Council to perform the same duties as 

above regarding the proposed third term “BID 3” renewal period 2023-2028.  
 
6.  Information & Analysis Supporting Recommendation  
 
6.1  The Manor Royal BID has had a hugely positive impact in Manor Royal since it 

began operations in 2013 and – alongside Crawley Borough Council and West 
Sussex County Council – it has spearheaded the achievement of major 
improvements to the Business District.  

 
6.2 The following are highlights:  
 

• All 23 broadband cabinets upgraded for faster fibre-based broadband. 
• 2 new parks: Crawter’s Brook Peoples Park and The Terrace Pocket Park. 
• 4 new micro-parks completed and maintained with two more to come. 
• 25 security cameras installed at entry points and strategic locations monitored by 

Sussex Police.  
• A new security team – A dedicated “Business Ranger” team helps to keep the place 

safe, serving as the area’s eyes and ears. 
• Gateway 3 (Betts Way) – Entranceway upgraded to improve the sense of arrival and 

first impressions 
• Gateway 2 – Entrance way upgraded to include new pedestrian / cyclist crossing 

points and upgraded public realm. 
• Gateway 1 (Gatwick Road / Hazelwick Flyover) – The physical environment of the 

busiest entrance way to Manor Royal upgraded with further roundabout 
improvements planned. 

• Better roads - £3.5m secured to improve junctions, road surfacing and bus / 
pedestrian / cyclist infrastructure – part of the Crawley Growth Programme. 

• Subway Improvements – 2 Subways upgraded to provide a much more inviting entry 
point into the Business District for pedestrians and cyclists. 

• Over 200 new directional signs installed, including new street name / welcome signs 
• Digital Advertising – Four digital advertising screens managed / maintained for 

cheaper outdoor advertising by Manor Royal companies. 
• Energy – Funding secured to set up a Local Energy Company to roll out renewable 

energy infrastructure in Manor Royal and enable MR companies to work together to 
generate their own energy. 

Page 71

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Agenda Item 9



 
• Events – A dedicated events programme which has attracted hundreds of 

companies and thousands of representatives each year, including the Manor Royal 
“Know Your Neighbour” EXPO. 

• Intensive cleaning / maintenance – A regular programme of intensive cleans and 
over 100 hours each week of additional dedicated ground maintenance to enhance 
the “look and feel” of the Business District. 

• Free Jobs Board with over 1,600 job adverts posted to date. 
• A further £2.5 million of external funds secured for delivery during “BID 3”. 
• In a survey of Manor Royal businesses conducted last year – 83% declared very 

satisfied or satisfied with the BID with only 1% declaring to be dissatisfied. 
 
6.3  The Manor Royal BID will seek to build on its strong track record to date if it secures 

a 3rd five-year period. Its principal delivery objectives for BID 3 will include:  
 

Promote and Influence 
• Promote Manor Royal to help attract / retain companies 
• Attract new investment to fund new projects and maximise the BID levy value. 
• Provide a dedicated enquiries point of contact for businesses and investors 
• Maintain the on-line Manor Royal property directory. 
 
Trade and Save 
• A tailored programme of exclusive and free events 
• Subsidised staff travel initiatives 
• High quality subsidised training programme 
• Free to use dedicated Manor Royal Jobs Board 
• Monthly E-Bulletins and Quarterly Manor Royal News magazine 
• Free to access business directory 
 
Infrastructure and Facilities 
• Roll out delivery of new projects including: new micro-parks, entrance way 

enhancements; lobby for even faster broadband; New facilities for staff to meet, rest 
and enjoy. 

 
Sustain and Renew 
• Collaborative energy initiatives and forums to facilitate the transition to net zero 

across Manor Royal 
• Provide signposting, information and guidance to help Manor Royal businesses to 

become more sustainable 
• New and enhanced greenspaces to support biodiversity and well being 
• Provide advice and incentives to adopt more sustainable travel behaviours. 

 
Manage and Maintain 
• Enhanced levels of additional maintenance provided by a dedicated team 
• Dedicated Manor Royal Business Ranger security service 
• Free to access security radios for vulnerable retailers 
• Maintenance and expansion of the security camera network (CCTV / ANPR) 
• Additional winter gritting and maintenance service. 

 
6.4  The Manor Royal BID is producing a new business plan proposal for its third five-

year period which will include the above delivery priorities and which will also explain 
the consultation it has undertaken to date, the revenue and expenditure cash flow 
estimates and the predicted budget in addition to the financial management 
arrangements.  

 

Page 72

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Agenda Item 9



 
6.5  It is proposed that for the 3rd BID period, levy payments will increase from 1% to 

1.1% of the rateable value of the premises businesses occupy - on all properties 
within the BID area with a rateable value of £12,000 per annum or more. A cap will 
be put in place so that no individual property attracts higher than a  levy charge of 
more than £4,000 per annum. The levy charge will be payable annually based on the 
Valuation Agency’s 2017 ratings list from 1st March each year.  

 
6.6  It is proposed that the geographic coverage of the Manor Royal BID area for “BID3” 

remains the same as for “BID2” apart from small extensions to the northern 
boundary to take account of development referred to as “Jersey Farm” and a 
development site immediately north of Hydehurst Lane.  

 
6.7  The Annual BID levy income for the MR BID is expected to be on average 

approximately £566,000 per annum over the BID 3 period 2023-2028. On average 
16% of this income will be spent on BID management and operations – including the 
MR BID Executive team - and the remaining 84% will be spent on service and 
project delivery. The BID is also committing to attracting and securing £2.45m of 
third-party income over the BID 3 period 2023-2028. 

 
6.8  The Council’s rateable hereditaments within the proposed Manor Royal BID area are 

as follows:  
• Block 2 Metcalf Way  
• Units A and C – The Depot – Metcalf Way  
• Travel House, Crawley Business Quarter, Fleming Way 

 
7.  Proposed Timetable for Manor Royal BID Renewal Process 
 

MR BID to send BID Proposal and letter of 
request to Crawley BC to hold a ballot 

By 3 December 2022 

Finalise voter list with CBC Electoral Services By 12 January 2023 
Ballot Holder (CBC) issues notice of ballot, 
including the arrangements for the ballot.  Final 
date for MR BID to publish “BID 3” Business 
Plan (42 days prior to ballot) 

16 January 2023 

Ballot Holder (CBC) posts ballot packs to 
prospective BID (3) levy payers (minimum 30 
days prior to ballot day) 

27 January 2023 

First day of Ballot - the period of Ballot begins 
(minimum 28 days) 

2 February 2023 

Deadline for proxy nominations (10 days prior to 
ballot day) 
Deadline for replacement of lost ballot papers 
Deadline for replacement of spoilt ballot papers 

 
19 February 2023 
25 February 2023 
26 February 2023 

Day of Ballot (up to 5pm) – End of the period of 
Ballot 

1 March 2023 

Count and Declaration 2 March 2023 
End of BID 2 31 March 2023 
Start of BID 3 (subject to a successful ballot) 1 April 2023 

 
 
8.  Implications  
 
8.1  Staffing  
 

• The postal ballot, including the issue and collection of ballot papers, will be managed 
by the Council’s Electoral Services Team, within existing resources.  

Page 73

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Agenda Item 9



 
• The collecting and administration of the levy will be managed by the Council’s 

Corporate Finance Team and a levy collection fee will be charged to the BID. 
 

8.2  Financial  
 

• As Billing Authority, the Council would have the right to charge the Manor Royal BID 
a Levy collection charge, in recognition of the resources incurred by the authority in 
collecting the levy and passing it on to the Manor Royal BID. This charge is 
proposed at 3% of the total value of the BID levy collected, which accords with the 
BID regulations.  

• The charge in the current financial year is £16,236.  The proposed annual increases 
would be in line with increased fees and charges within the budget strategy. 

• The 2004 Regulations require the Council to pay for the Ballot. The postal ballot 
process, managed through the Electoral Services Team is estimated to cost £1,000 
and this will be absorbed within existing resources. The cost would only be 
recoverable in the event of a very low turnout of votes supporting the BID Renewal.  

• In the event of a “YES” vote and in view of the rateable property hereditaments 
owned by the Council within the MR BID area (see section 6.8) the Council would 
pay over the period 2023-2028 an annual levy for each of those properties  ,  which 
includes the forthcoming Crawley Innovation Centre facility at Travel House.  .  
There are budgets set aside for these costs. 

 
8.3 Legal  
 

• The legislative framework under which Business Improvement Districts are 
established, renewed and governed is contained in Part 4 of the Local Government 
Act 2003. The establishment and operation of a Business Improvement District is 
also subject to the BID (England) Regulations 2004.  

• This requires that prior to becoming operational, prospective BIDs must be subject to 
a Ballot of all eligible BID levy payers. A BID is legally permitted to exist if the 
majority of BID levy payers vote in favour. For the BID to proceed to another term, 
more than 50% of those who vote must vote “YES”. Of those YES votes, the total 
rateable value must be higher, when added together, than the rateable value of 
those who voted “NO”.  

• In the event that the result of the Ballot is negative, the BID will cease to exist on 
31st March 2023. If the result is a majority “Yes” vote, the BID can then only operate 
for a maximum of five years, before being subject to a further Ballot. 

• In the event that the result of the Ballot is negative and the BID ceases to exist on 
31st March 2023, then the Council would be required to take responsibility for the 
project management and delivery of two Crawley Towns Fund projects which the 
Manor Royal BID is currently responsible for: I) Manor Royal Business Environment 
Improvements; II) Green Business Infrastructure. The Council is already the 
accountable body for the Crawley Towns Fund programme.  The costs to the 
Council of project managing these schemes would in the event be funded by the 
Crawley Towns Fund monies. 

• The Council only has the power to veto a BID proposal if it is contrary to formally 
adopted and published Council policies. The Renewal proposal is in line with Council 
policies and priorities and therefore this report recommends formal Cabinet 
endorsement.   

• Following a successful BID ballot in April 2013, the Manor Royal BID secured a five-
year operational period, which is due to expire on 31st March 2023. To continue into 
a third five-year period and not automatically cease, the Manor Royal BID must be 
subject to a further Ballot of Manor Royal levy payers to determine whether the 
majority favour continuation of the BID.  

• Subject to a BID renewal vote by Manor Royal BID levy payers, the billing and 
collection of the BID levy will be undertaken by the Borough Council’s Revenues and 

Page 74

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Agenda Item 9



 
Benefits Team, for which a detailed Operating Agreement with the Manor Royal BID 
will required to be negotiated and signed off, setting out the levy criteria, any 
exemptions and details of collection.  

• The Head of Governance, People and Performance will negotiate the BID Operating 
Agreement with the Manor Royal BID and therefore the confirmation of the Borough 
Council’s role as levy collector is subject to legal agreement.  

 
8.4 Consultation 
 

• To help inform the case for BID renewal, the Manor Royal BID has undertaken the 
following consultation actions: Manor Royal BID survey (autumn 2021); Manor Royal 
Showcase event – May 2022; Presentations at public events including Know Your 
Neighbourhood Expo 2022, attended by over 100 companies. In addition, the BID 
has undertaken face to face meetings and interviews and has also gathered views 
submitted directly to the BID on a day-to-day basis. 

• The Manor Royal BID is due to launch its Business Plan Prospectus 2023-2028 at 
the Manor Royal Matters event in November and will widely circulate copies of the 
Business Plan to levy payers for comment and feedback.  

 
8.5 Equalities  
 

• Subject to renewal, the Manor Royal BID will ensure that all project initiatives 
undertaken by the BID take account of equalities and access requirements.  

 
 
 
9. Background Papers  
 

None  
 

 
 
 
Contact Officer: Clem Smith, Head of Economy and Planning Tel: 01293 438567 

 

Page 75

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Key
Retail

Eatery/
Restaurant

Convenience 
Store

Bank Fuel

Household 
Recycling Site

HotelSorting O�ce

Café Bus Stop

Footbridge

Park Seating

Hospital 
No A&E

Pedestrian
& Cycle path

Airport

Motorway

Railway
Station

Railway

Subway

Parks & 
Open Spaces

www.manorroyal.org

The
Faraday
Centre

The Enterprise
Centre

The Fleming
Centre

Astral
Towers

Amberley
Court

Merlin
Court

Principal
Park

Manor
Court

Kelvin
Business
Centre

The Satellite
Business
Village

Rowley
Wood

The Bell
Centre

The Brunel
Centre

Faraday
Court

Space 
Gatwick

Windsor
Place

Stanley
Centre

Crawley
Business
Quarter

Basepoint
Business Centre

Hospital
No A&E

Crompton
Fields

Centron

Lloyds
Court

Sussex Manor
Business Park

Oakwood
Industrial Park

Pegasus
Place

Meadowbrook
Industrial Centre

Sorting
O�ce

Churchill
Court

Link 10

Atrium

Gatwick 33 Magellan
Terrace

Imperial
Centre

Metana
House

Camino
Park

Sterling
Park

Goods
Yard

Forge Wood
Industrial Estate

Rutherford Way
Industrial Estate

Gatwick International
Distribution Centre

Gatwick
Distribution 
Centre

Fleming Way
Industrial
Centre

Cherry Lane
Playing Field

Hazelwick
School

City
Place

Beehive

Household Waste
Recycling Site

County Oak
Retail Park

Enterprise
Court

Acorn
Retail 
Park

Manor Royal Business District Zonal Map

Charlwood
Court

Jersey
Farm

Nexus

Northwood
Park

Raleigh
Court

Magpie 
Wood

Fleming 
Way

Woolborough
Cycle / Walk Way

Crawters
Brook

Priestley
Way Rutherford

Way

Gatwick
Road

Manor Royal
Central

Metcalf Way
County Oak Way

Terrace
Pocket Park

Manor Royal
West

Appendix A

Page 77

 9
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
an

or
 R

oy
al

 B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
o

Appendix aAgenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1
	Report to Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	3rd October 2022
	Report to Cabinet
	5th October 2022
	1.	Purpose

	7 Budget Strategy 2023/24 - 2027/28
	Report to Overview & Scrutiny Commission
	3 October 2022
	Report to Cabinet
	5 October 2022
	Budget Strategy 2023/24 – 2027/28
	1.	Purpose
	2.	Recommendations
	4.	Background

	11.	Risk Management
	Capital Strategy
	1.	Purpose


	8 Proposed Increase of Weekly Rent to Council Owned Garages
	8. CEX59 Appendix A Pricing Strategy
	8. CEX59 Appendix B Benchmarking Analysis

	9 Proposed Manor Royal Business Improvement District (BID) Renewal ("BID 3")
	Proposed Manor Royal BID Renewal Appendix A




